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I t was on 10 November 1958, at a Soviet-Polish
friendship rally to cap off the visit of Polish leader
W»adys»aw Gomu»ka to Moscow, that Soviet leader

Nikita Khrushchev first publicly announced his intention
to turn over the Soviet Union’s control functions in Berlin
to the German Democratic Republic (GDR).
Khrushchev’s speech was the prelude to his letter of
November 27 to the Western powers, in which he
demanded that they enter into negotiations for a German
peace treaty and on the issue of transforming West Berlin
into a demilitarized, “free” city.  If sufficient progress
were not made within six months, Khrushchev threatened
to sign a separate peace treaty with the GDR and to grant it
control over the transit routes to Berlin.2

Recently-declassified minutes of a meeting between
Gomu»ka and Khrushchev on November 10, the day of the
Soviet leader’s speech, shed light on the immediate
prelude to the ultimatum of November 27.  They tend to
confirm Hope Harrison and Vladislav Zubok’s main
assertions in their recent studies about Khrushchev’s goals
in provoking the crisis: to differentiate himself from his
ousted opponents, to counter the Federal Republic of
Germany’s (FRG) expanding role in NATO, and—above
all else—to gain international recognition of the GDR.3

The minutes highlight in particular the key role of the
shifting nuclear balance in Khrushchev’s thinking and
provide insight into the evolving relationship between
Khrushchev and Gomu»ka.

Khrushchev’s Goals
On the weekend of 8 November 1958, Gomu»ka

received a draft of Khrushchev’s proposed speech for the
friendship rally on Monday.  He was reportedly shocked.
Although the GDR and the Soviet Union had sent notes to
the Federal Republic and the Western powers in
September calling for a German peace treaty and inter-
German talks on reunification, there had been no mention
of Berlin.  Only days before had the Polish foreign
minister, Adam Rapacki, renewed his proposal for a
nuclear weapon-free zone in Central Europe to embrace
both German states, Poland, and Czechoslovakia.4   The
underlying goals of the initiative, the “Rapacki Plan,”
were to prevent West German access to nuclear weapons
and to provide the basis for détente and disarmament in
Europe.  A relaxation of tensions between the two blocs
would have allowed Poland more room for maneuver in its
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domestic and foreign policies, especially with regard to
trade and cultural relations with the West.5   In contrast,
Khrushchev’s Berlin gambit presaged an increase in
tensions between East and West.  Although it might have
been aimed indirectly at preventing West German access
to nuclear weapons, the central goal was to gain Western
recognition of the GDR.6   Khrushchev’s Berlin ultimatum
meant, in effect, that the struggle within the Eastern bloc
between Poland and the GDR over what was to come first
in Soviet-bloc foreign policy—regional disarmament or
recognition of the GDR—had been decided in the East
Germans’ favor.7

In the session on November 10, Gomu»ka let
Khrushchev do the talking.  When the Soviet leader asked
Gomu»ka if he had read Moscow’s latest “suggestions”
regarding Berlin, he said that he had.  “We understand,”
Gomu»ka said, “that they are aimed towards liquidating the
western part of Berlin.”  Khrushchev quickly countered,
“It is not that simple.”  The announcement on Berlin was
only the “beginning of the struggle.”  Moscow intended to
hand over its control functions in Berlin to the East
Germans, and this would force the West to speak directly
with the GDR—leading, in effect, to its recognition.  The
Soviet leader also suggested other possible reasons for his
gambit.  He tried to differentiate himself from his former
opponents in the struggle to succeed Stalin by citing their
policy towards the German question.  Both KGB Chief
Lavrentii Beria and the Soviet’s Communist Party Central
Committee Secretary Georgi Malenkov, Khrushchev
declared, had favored a Soviet withdrawal from Berlin and
the GDR in 1953.8  In the same year, Khrushchev had
justified Beria’s removal and execution by pointing to his
German policy.  Similarly, in June 1957, he had vindicated
his purge of the “anti-party group” of Malenkov,
Vyacheslav Molotov, and Lazar Kaganovich from the
Soviet leadership by citing their opposition to credits for
the GDR.9   To help assure Gomu»ka’s support,
Khrushchev now alleged that his former opponents had
even wanted to alter Poland’s western border, the Oder-
Neisse Line.  Having differentiated himself from his
opponents, he also brought up the issue of the FRG’s
membership in the North Atlantic Treaty Organization
(NATO), an alliance “clearly directed against us.”  Bonn’s
membership in NATO, he declared, violated the Potsdam
Agreement.  It thus provided Moscow with a justification
to renounce the existing arrangements for Berlin, agreed
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upon at Potsdam, especially since the West was using
West Berlin as an “attack base” against the Soviet Union.

Nuclear Brinkmanship and the West’s Reaction
Khrushchev sought to calm the Polish delegation’s

fears about the possibility of war over Berlin by
underlining the altered strategic balance since 1953.  The
West would not risk a war over Berlin, he suggested,
because the Soviet Union had the hydrogen bomb and the
means to hit the U.S.  As Vladislav Zubok and Constantine
Pleshakov point out, Khrushchev believed  that the Soviet
threat to use nuclear weapons during the Suez Crisis
exactly two years earlier had played a crucial role in
forcing Great Britain and France to back down.  His
“nuclear-missile romanticism”10 also led him to believe
that in order to avoid nuclear confrontation, the Western
powers would have to acquiesce in East German control
over the transit routes to Berlin.  (In his meeting with
Gomu»ka, Khrushchev did not mention the possibility of a
negotiated settlement with the West over Berlin or a peace
treaty.)  “If a conflict results,” Khrushchev told Gomu»ka,
“they [the West] know full well that we are in a position to
raze West Germany to the ground.  The first minutes of
war will decide.... Their territory is small—West
Germany, England, France—literally several bombs will
suffice...”  Although a war “might drag on for years,” the
Soviet Union could also launch a nuclear strike against the
U.S.  “Today, America has moved closer to us,”
Khrushchev told Gomu»ka, “our missiles can hit them
directly.”

Since war was no longer a possibility for the West,
Khrushchev predicted, they would resort to some form of
economic blockade against the GDR and Berlin.  This
time, however, unlike 1948-49, it would be the Soviet
Union that would provide the residents of West Berlin
with food.  Since  France and Great Britain—Khrushchev
and Gomu»ka agreed—did not really favor German
unification, they would not necessarily put up much
resistance.  Indeed, Khrushchev predicted—falsely—that
French President Charles de Gaulle would not actively
support West Germany during a crisis over Berlin.11  De
Gaulle, he said, feared the Germans; if they attacked any
country in the future, it would be France, not the Soviet
Union.  “De Gaulle,” Khrushchev adjudged, “is a realist, a
military man; he completely understands the danger to
France.”

Khrushchev, it seems, had not yet decided to leave
open the possibility of a negotiated settlement with the
Western powers over Berlin.  When Gomu»ka brought up
the option of talks with the West,  Khrushchev replied that
Moscow was not planning a diplomatic approach to the
Western powers.  It would simply withdraw its
representative from the Allied Control Commission, recall
its military commander from Berlin, and hand over control
of the access routes to the East Germans.  By the time of
his “ultimatum” on November 27, however, Khrushchev
decided to leave open the possibility of a negotiated

settlement on Berlin and a peace treaty, so as long as
sufficient progress was made within six months.12  He
rescinded and renewed the deadline two more times before
he finally abandoned it in October 1961, two months after
the construction of the Berlin Wall.

The Polish-Soviet Relationship
The minutes also provide insight into the evolving

relationship between Khrushchev and Gomu»ka.  Only two
years before, in October 1956, Khrushchev had flown to
Warsaw on the eve of the Polish United Workers’ Party
[PUWP]’s 8th  Plenum to confront the Polish leadership
about Gomu»ka’s return to power.13  In contrast, in
November 1958, he talked openly with Gomu»ka about the
ostensible differences within the Soviet leadership over
Poland’s western border, the Oder-Neisse Line.  Not
surprisingly, he suggested that he, Khrushchev, had always
supported the Oder-Neisse Line and it was others—Beria
and the “feeble” Malenkov—who had committed the
“stupidity” of refusing to recognize it.  Khrushchev’s
statement was particularly ironic because it was he who
made veiled threats against the Oder-Neisse Line in two
meetings with Gomu»ka in 1957.  At the first meeting, in
May 1957 in Moscow, Khrushchev had used the border
issue to force Gomu»ka to renounce his demands for
compensation for Moscow’s economic exploitation of
Poland during the Stalin era.14  At the second meeting, in
August 1957, he had pressured Gomu»ka to curb the
reforms in Poland and combat “anti-Sovietism.”15

Gomu»ka had responded in October 1957 with a crackdown
in Poland.  He had ordered the closure of the Warsaw
student newspaper, Po prostu, the leading organ of the
Polish reform movement.16  When students protested the
decision, they were brutally rebuffed by Poland’s internal
security forces.  Then, in November 1957, Gomu»ka had
ordered a purge (“review”) of the PUWP’s membership,
which led to the dismissal of leading “revisionists.”17  By
the time of his meeting with Khrushchev in November
1958, Gomu»ka publicly supported Khrushchev’s Berlin
gambit, despite his private reservations.  In return, the
Soviet leader sanctioned—both in his speech on November
10 and more importantly, during a visit to Poland in July
1959—Poland’s right to follow its own path to socialism.18

The excerpt below comes from the former Polish party
archives, now a part of Archiwum Akt Nowych (AAN), or
the Archive for Contemporary Documents, in Warsaw.19

Minutes from the Discussion between the Delegation of
the PRL [People’s Republic of Poland] and the

Government of the USSR,” 25 October - 10 November
1958

[Excerpt from session on 10 November 1958.]

Khrushchev: He turns to the German question and quotes
the recent statement of [U.S. Secretary of State John Foster]
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Dulles on the matter of Berlin.20

If a conflict results, they know full well that we are in
a position to raze West Germany to the ground.  The first
minutes of war will decide.  There the losses will naturally
be the greatest.  After that, the war might  drag on for
years.  Their territory is small—West Germany, England,
France—literally several bombs will suffice, they will
decide in the first minutes of the war.  We recently
conducted tests, and we have such [delivery] vehicles that
at the same strength they use ten times less fuel, so in the
same space we can produce ten times as many bombs.

There were some among us who believed that we
would have to withdraw from Berlin.  Beria proposed this,
and he was supported by “feeble” Malenkov.  They
believed that we should give up the GDR and Berlin.  That
was in 1953.  What would we have accomplished after
that?  They did not even recognize the border on the Oder
and Neisse, so that would have been complete stupidity.
They would not have even recognized the Western border
of Poland, but had pretensions to Gdynia and Gda½sk.  We
have to defend the border on the Elbe.  Are we supposed
to give up a population of 18 million in the GDR for
nothing, without a fight?  That’s stupidity.  We should
fully support Ulbricht and Grotewohl.  The FRG simply
offered us gold, dollars, so that we would not support the
GDR.  They simply asked  - how much do you want [?]
Of course we rejected this, we do not negotiate on such
questions.

You know about our latest suggestions with regard to
Berlin.

Gomu»»»»»ka: We know.  We understand that they are
aimed towards liquidating the western part of Berlin.

Khrushchev: It is not that simple.  I am only
announcing that matter.  That is the beginning of the
struggle.  Our announcement in our presentations is only
the beginning of the action.  Undoubtedly it is an
exacerbation.  The GDR will aggravate the issue of
transport, especially military, and they will have to turn to
them on matters of transport.  Of course an exacerbation
will result.

Gomu»»»»»ka: It is understood that in the longer term a
situation cannot continue in which in the interior of one
state, the GDR, stands another state—West Berlin.  It
would be different if the unification of Germany were a
close prospect—and that was possible at the time of
Potsdam, when it was considered a temporary status—
until the unification of Germany.  But currently the
situation is different and such a prospect is lacking.  Such
a state of things cannot be maintained.  There is not even a
single state in the West that would support the unification
of Germany.  Even France and England do not wish that
upon themselves.

Khrushchev: And France and England are afraid
themselves of whether we might not give in on this issue.
In 1956, they were full of happiness, they thought that
Poland had perished as a socialist state.  They were
mistaken, but even if it had come to pass, even if we had

had some difficulties in Poland, it would not have saved
them.  We would have gone through Czechoslovakia,
through the Baltic Sea, but we would have never
withdrawn from the GDR.  We would not allow the GDR
to be swallowed up.

Gomu»»»»»ka: Do you intend to address the three states
[i.e., Western powers] about liquidating the status of
Berlin?

Khrushchev: No.  My declaration today should be
understood in such a fashion, that we are unilaterally
ceasing to observe the agreement on Berlin’s status, that
we are discontinuing to fulfill the functions deriving from
our participation in the Control Commission.  Next, we
will recall our military commander in West Berlin and our
[military] mission. [East German Premier Otto] Grotewohl
will ask the English and Americans to leave, along with
their missions.  Our military, however, will remain in the
GDR on the basis of our participation in the Warsaw
Treaty.  Then the capitalist states will have to turn to the
GDR on matters relating to Berlin, transit, and transport.
They will have to turn to Grotewohl, and he is firm.  And
that’s when the tension begins.  Some form of blockade
will result, but we have enough foodstuffs.  We will also
have to feed West Berlin.  We do not want to, but the
population will suffer from it.

Ignar: 21  That political stance is of course right, as
long as you say that it will not cause a war.  If not, then it
is correct and I, in any case, think so.

Khrushchev: War will not result from it.  There will
be tensions, of course, there will be a blockade.  They
might test to see our reaction.  In any case we will have to
show a great deal of cold blood in this matter.

Gomu»»»»»ka: They might try different forms of
blockade.  That might play a part in the summit meeting.

Khrushchev: According to the Potsdam agreement,
the FRG should not join any alliance against the countries
with which Germany fought.  But they joined NATO,
which is clearly directed against us.  That is clearly in
conflict with the Potsdam agreement.  West Berlin is there
to be used as an attack base against us.  They are turning
to blackmail.  Five years ago—that was different.  Then,
we did not have the hydrogen bomb; now, the balance of
forces is different.  Then, we could not reach the USA.
The USA built its policies upon the bases surrounding us.
Today, America has moved closer to us—our missiles can
hit them directly.

Gomu»»»»»ka: What about de Gaulle?
Khrushchev: He will not actively support them.  De

Gaulle fears the Germans.   During a meeting in Moscow
with the French (Guy Mollet), we said to them: Why
would the Germans attack to the east?  There they will
meet the greatest resistance, there it will be difficult for
them.  Hence, they will certainly attack to the west.  De
Gaulle understands that if the Germans start looking for
weak spots they will attack France, because if they want to
attack the USSR, they will have to go through Poland.  De
Gaulle is a realist, a military man, he understands
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completely the danger to France.
On the matters relating to West Berlin, we consulted

with the comrades from the GDR.  They fully support
these steps.

Gomu»»»»»ka: We have our trade agreements with the
FRG.  We ship goods to West Berlin.

Khrushchev: You can keep those agreements, but
you should speak with the GDR about transport.  The
GDR also trades with them.  They supply them with
briquettes, and they receive coke, which they give to
Poland....

[Source:  AAN, KC PZPR, p. 113, t. 27.  Translated by
Douglas Selvage]
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These two summit meetings, between Soviet leader
Nikita Khrushchev and East German leader and
Socialist Unity Party of Germany (SED) First

Secretary Walter Ulbricht, took place in June 1959 during
the second Berlin Crisis (1958-61) while the Conference
of Foreign Ministers (CFM) of the U.S., Soviet Union,
England, and France (with the two Germanys sitting in as
observers for the first time) was occurring in Geneva,
Switzerland.1  The CFM met from May 11-June 19 and
July 13-August 5 to discuss Germany.2  Much of the
discussion at the two Soviet-East German summits in June
was about strategy towards the Western Powers
concerning Berlin and Germany at the CFM. A top-level
East German delegation was in the Soviet Union from
June 8-20, visiting Moscow, Riga, Kiev and Gorki and
holding these two summit meetings with the Soviet
leadership as well as learning much about Soviet
economic, cultural, and other institutions.

The Geneva CFM was convened in response to
Khrushchev’s ultimatum of 27 November 1958 to the
Western Powers about Berlin and Germany. In the
ultimatum, Khrushchev demanded that a peace treaty be
signed by the four powers with both Germanys or with a
united Germany and that West Berlin be transformed into
a “free city” within six months or he would sign a separate
peace treaty with the German Democratic Republic (GDR,
or East Germany) and turn over to the GDR control of
access routes between West Germany and West Berlin.3

The six-month deadline was to expire on 27 May 1959.
The Western Powers relented beforehand, agreeing not yet
for a summit of the heads of state (which is what
Khrushchev really wanted), but proposing a meeting of the
foreign ministers to discussed the issues raised in
Khrushchev’s ultimatum, as well as other topics. If
progress was made at the CFM, then there might be a
summit of heads of state. The Western proposal for the
CFM on Germany, with the Four Powers and German
representatives, was sent to Moscow on 16 February 1959.
The Soviets responded on March 2 saying that they really
thought a summit of the heads of state would be the most
appropriate forum for discussing the German question, but
if the West refused, they would agree to a CFM, with
Czech and Polish, as well as East and West German,
observers. In a note on March 26, Washington held to its
position, supporting initially only a CFM and only with
observers from the two Germanys. The Soviets accepted
on March 30 the plans for the Geneva CFM to convene on
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May 11 to discuss a German peace treaty and Berlin.
Thus, in less than six months, Khrushchev achieved

two major objectives: negotiations with the West on Berlin
and Germany, and de facto recognition of the GDR.
Khrushchev made it clear to Ulbricht at their June 1959
summits that he had used the threat of a separate peace
treaty threat as a “Damocles’ sword” to force the West to
the negotiating table. On June 18, he told Ulbricht: “I
don’t know whether we will bring this issue of the signing
of a peace treaty with the GDR to realization; however,
such a prospect acts in a sobering way on the Western
powers and West Germany. This, if you will, is pressure
on them, Damocles’ sword, which we must hold over
them.” Presidium member Anastas Mikoian agreed:
“Before they didn’t want to talk about Berlin at all, but
now they are forced to carry out negotiations with us on
it.”

Now that Khrushchev had actually gotten the West to
the negotiating table, however, it was not clear how hard
he really wanted to push his adversaries. As he told
Ulbricht on June 9, “Earlier we said that in the event of the
Western powers’ refusal to sign a peace treaty with the
two German governments, we would sign a peace treaty
with the GDR. But now it is necessary to create a safety
valve. Therefore we are proposing the creation of an all-
German committee,” which he imagined would spend
“one or one and a half years, until 1961,” working out a
plan for unification. In fact, Khrushchev told Ulbricht on
June 18, “Let’s not set a time limit. . . Let’s act more
flexibly on this issue . . .” Paul Scholz4  agreed with this
idea for a very different reason. He pointed out that due to
Khrushchev’s 27 November 1958 ultimatum, on 27 May
1959, “is well known, on that day everyone in the GDR
expected that something would happen. Therefore, it is
better not to decree a concrete date, but to preserve
freedom of movement for oneself.” He did not want the
GDR to be in the embarrassing position again of not
reaping the gains that Khrushchev had publicly promised
it.

Khrushchev did not expect much from the CFM itself.
On June 9, he said to Ulbricht that the conference “won’t
have any tangible results . . . since the situation itself still
doesn’t have a basis for positive resolutions.” Besides,
“not one self-respecting prime minister will allow his
foreign minister, due to prestige considerations, to sign an
agreement on concrete issues.” They would save this
honor only for themselves. Thus, “Geneva—it’s a test of

“If you have thrown the enemy to the ground, you don’t need to then kneel on his chest”

The Berlin Crisis and the Khrushchev-Ulbricht Summits
 in Moscow, 9 and 18 June 1959
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strength, it’s a sounding out of positions.”
Aside from forcing the West to the negotiating table

by his ultimatum, and using the CFM for a “sounding out
of positions,” Khrushchev saw the CFM as a way to buy
time during which to improve the GDR economy and its
competitiveness with West Germany and West Berlin.
Khrushchev believed that after one to one and a half years,
“They will be weaker and we will be stronger.” “In 1961
the GDR will start to surpass the FRG in standard of
living. This will have very great political significance.
This will be a bomb for them. Therefore, our position is to
gain time.” Ulbricht agreed that “it’s clear that the signing
of a peace treaty with the GDR would exacerbate the
situation, for which we are not now prepared.
Economically we still cannot exert influence on the West;
therefore, we must win time.” GDR Prime Minister Otto
Grotewohl reminded those at the meeting that “in our
conditions economic problems turn into political ones.”
The final communiqué of the meetings, published in
Pravda on June 20, stated: “The delegations emphasize
that the main influence on the situation in Germany and
also to a significant extent in Europe, in the sense of the
consolidation of peace and democracy, is exerted under
the current circumstances by the successes of the workers
of the German Democratic Republic in answering the
economic tasks which were determined by the resolutions
of the 5th Congress of the Socialist Unity Party of
Germany.” The Soviets and East Germans understood how
important an improvement in the East German economic
situation was.

Khrushchev wanted some sort of agreement with the
Western Powers which would help legitimize the GDR
regime in the international arena and thus also help
stabilize the situation within the GDR by reducing the
number of refugees fleeing the country for West Berlin
and West Germany. Having both West Germany and East
Germany participate at the CFM as observers was seen as
a big step forward for the GDR and for Khrushchev’s
strategy. Khrushchev told Ulbricht at their meeting on
June 9 that the West’s “invitation of the GDR to the
conference, which signifies de facto recognition of the
GDR,” was an indication that the Western strategy of
“rollback” had been “unrealistic” and that the West now
realized that its “efforts to subvert the countries of Eastern
Europe from the socialist path of development had
completely failed.”

Now that Khrushchev had achieved what he called
Western “de facto recognition of the GDR,” however, he
was not going to push for de jure recognition. As he told
Ulbricht on June 9, “We don’t think it’s worth it now to
push the West to the wall, so we won’t give the impression
that we are seeking the recognition of the GDR. The
Americans don’t want to recognize the GDR.  They can’t
do this for prestige reasons.  That, and we would be
offended. They didn’t recognize us for 16 years, and you
want them to recognize you after 10 years. You need to
wait at least 17 years. In any case, such a stating of the

issue, such an intention from our side would hinder the
relaxation of tensions.” One wishes for a tape recording of
this meeting to hear the tone of Khrushchev’s voice as he
said this to Ulbricht! Khrushchev keeps playing both sides
in these summits with Ulbricht; on the one hand standing
up for GDR interests, yet on the other hand, not wanting to
place decent relations with the West too much in jeopardy.

Similarly, on June 9 Khrushchev recounted a Russian
expression to Ulbricht: “If you have thrown your
adversary to the ground, you don’t need to then kneel on
his chest. We don’t need to show that we won.” But on
June 18, he declared: “we must always understand with
whom we are dealing. They are bandits. If we were weak,
they would long ago have resolved the German question to
their advantage. . . we must not forget that if we let down
our guard, they will swallow us up.” Thus, he blustered,
“The more the Western powers know that there is a
balance in the area of atomic weapons and rockets, the
better it is for us.” Perhaps emboldened by the USSR’s
1957 achievements in orbiting a satellite (Sputnik) and
testing long-range ballistic missiles to exaggerate Soviet
nuclear strength, Khrushchev vacillated between
pressuring the West and then pulling back.

Ulbricht, for his part, seemed more subdued than he
became in meetings later in the Berlin Crisis. He did,
however, as usual, push for more Soviet economic aid. At
a certain point in the meeting on June 9, when Khrushchev
seemed to think he has just ended the meeting by
“summing up the exchange of views” and “expressing his
sincere gratitude” for the “complete unity of views”
between the East Germans and the Soviets, Ulbricht then
went on “to speak more about the situation in the GDR”
and the economic difficulties, which were particularly
problematic, since the East Germans “compare the
standard of living in the GDR with West Germany and
West Berlin.” Khrushchev promised to consider the
GDR’s requests, but clearly worried about how much the
Soviets could afford to help the GDR. “We must reckon
with our real capabilities. I would like to remind you that
we began the competition with capitalism naked and with
bare feet. The people believed us not only due to the
promises of sausage and beer, but also due to the teachings
of Marx and Lenin.”

Beyond fishing for more economic aid, however, in
these summits, Ulbricht was not really more militant than
Khrushchev on the peace treaty or West Berlin. Instead, he
seemed to agree that the GDR needed to “buy time” until
it was in a better economic position to risk Western
retaliation against a more hard-line strategy, such as
signing a separate peace treaty and turning over to the
GDR control of the West Berlin access routes.

In terms of reaching a settlement on Germany and/or
Berlin among the Four Powers at the Geneva CFM, no real
progress was made. Both sides talked of an interim
agreement on Berlin and a reduction of Western troops in
West Berlin, but the Soviets continued to insist that if no
final agreement were made to change the status of West
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Berlin, after the interim period of a year or a year-and-a-
half, the Western troops would have to leave West Berlin
and the latter must be transformed into a demilitarized
international “free city” with no subversive and
propaganda activities directed against the GDR or the
Communist bloc. The West would not agree to most of
this. The Soviets also continued to insist that a peace treaty
be signed with both Germanys or a united Germany and
called for an all-German committee, made up equally of
East and West German representatives, to draw up plans
for German unification. The West put forward a package
deal of stages toward German unification (which would
ultimately include free elections throughout Germany)
which was incompatible with Soviet proposals. The West
insisted on Four Power rights in Berlin, as guaranteed in
the 1945 Potsdam agreements, and the Soviets insisted that
those were no longer just.

After Gromyko announced on June 9 that the Western
powers could maintain their rights in Berlin for one more
year and Khrushchev announced on June 19 that an all-
German commission could have a year-and-a-half to come
up with plans for reunification and a peace treaty, the
West, feeling these were deadline threats, called a recess to
the CFM. Given that the East German delegation was in
the Soviet Union at this very time, as Michael Lemke
points out, there was reason for the West to believe that
they were meeting to plan “new measures in case there
was no agreement on West Berlin at Geneva. One should
increase the `pressure’ on the Western Powers, urged
Valerian Zorin, the First Deputy Foreign Minister of the
USSR.”5As the transcripts from the two summit
conversations indicate, Khrushchev was clearly following
a strategy of keeping up pressure on the West on West
Berlin and a German peace treaty, although his feeling of
“not wanting to set a deadline” and wanting to be “more
flexible” clearly was momentarily forgotten when he and
Gromyko set renewed deadlines in June. And the final
communiqué of the Soviet-East German meetings states,
in the usual threatening way, that if no agreement is
reached on a peaceful resolution on the German question,
the Soviet Union and other interested countries will sign a
peace treaty with the GDR.6

In the meantime, in spite of President Eisenhower’s
vow that he would plan a summit meeting with
Khrushchev only in the event of significant progress at the
Geneva CFM, due to an apparent misunderstanding within
the U.S. bureaucracy, an invitation for a summit meeting
was issued to Khrushchev on July 11, and on August 3 it
was announced that Khrushchev would visit the United
States. Thus, when the CFM reassembled from July 13-
August 3, it was not surprising that no progress was made.
Khrushchev had already received his invitation to the U.S.,
something far more important to him than a CFM.

Document No. 1
“Short Summary of the Talks with the GDR Party-

Governmental Delegation on 9 June 1959”

Secret. 4 July 1959.
Soviet officials taking part in the talks: N.S.

Khrushchev [First Secretary, Presidium member, and head
of delegation], A.I. Kirichenko [Presidium member and
Central Committee Secretary], F.R. Kozlov [Presidium
member and Deputy Chairman of the Council of
Ministers], A.I. Mikoian [Presidium member and First
Deputy Chairman of the Council of Ministers], V.V.
Kuznetsov [First Deputy Foreign Minister], V.C. Semenov
[Deputy Foreign Minister], M.G. Pervukhin [Ambassador
to the GDR].

The following assisted in the talks: Deputy Head of
the CPSU CC Dept. N.T. Vinogradov, [and] heads of
departments at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, N.M.
Lun’kov, and A.Ya. Popov.

Taking part in the talks from the German side: the
GDR party-governmental delegation. [The document does
not list who was in the East German delegation. Minister
President Grotewohl’s files,7  the published communiqué,8

and the records of the summits indicate that the delegation
included W. Ulbricht (First Secretary, Politburo member
and head of the delegation), O. Grotewohl (Minister
President and Politburo member), F. Ebert (Mayor of
Berlin and Politburo member), B. Leuschner (Politburo
member, Deputy Chairman of the Council of Ministers,
and Chairman of the State Planning Commission), E.
Correns (President of the National Council of the National
Front), H. Loch (Deputy President of the Council of
Ministers and Chairman of the Liberal Democratic Party
of Germany), J. König (Ambassador to the USSR), H.
Homann (Vice President of the Volkskammer and Deputy
Chairman of the National Democratic Party of Germany,
A. Bach (Vice President of the Volkskammer and
Chairman of the Christian Democratic Union, P. Scholz
(Deputy Chairman of the Council of Ministers and Deputy
Chairman of the Democratic Farmers’ Party of Germany),
and R. Korb (Stasi official, Head of Central Information
Groups).]

Assisting in the talks was also GDR Ministry of
Foreign Affairs’ Collegium member A. Kunderman [who
was also the head of the Foreign Ministry’s Department on
the Soviet Union].

Khrushchev:  Let me welcome the GDR party-
governmental delegation and give the first word to the
guests.

Ulbricht:   There is a series of issues which it is
imperative for us to discuss.

I would like to start with the conference in Geneva.
As is well known, the Soviet Union’s proposal about a
peace treaty at the Geneva conference was opposed by the
Western powers’ package of proposals. In sum, its core
comes down to liquidating us not immediately, but step by
step, in three stages.
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Also in connection with the Geneva conference, the
question is: what can our delegation do for the further
development of initiatives[?] We would like to exchange
views with you on this. We think that an important step for
developing this initiative was Gromyko’s proposal to
create a commission of the representatives of the two
German states. However, neither the West nor the Bonn
government has responded to this proposal. Therefore, we
should think about what we should undertake in this
regard in the future.

Moreover, I would like to note that the proposals of
the Western powers completely ignore the question of the
prohibition of West German nuclear arms. Thus, our
delegation in Geneva first of all raised the question of the
prohibition of atomic arms and rocket installations in West
Germany. This is the first issue which, in our view, must
occupy the commission.

We also proposed to the FRG [Federal Republic of
Germany] to conclude a non-aggression pact, a treaty on
the renunciation of the use of force between the two
German states. Adenauer refused this proposal, but it met
with support among the West German population (in
particular from the FDP [Free Democratic Party] and SPD
[Social Democratic Party]). Our proposal was understood
by all and accepted, because it demands that both sides
renounce something. We gave you the draft of this treaty
and would like to know your view on this issue.

However, in any case, the question of a peace treaty
remains at the center of attention. As regards us,
proceeding from the above considerations, we emphasize
especially one part—the prohibition of West German
nuclear arms, [a position] which has the understanding of
the FRG population.

The second issue about which we would like to
exchange views is West Berlin. As is well known, the
Americans are raising the question of preserving their
rights in West Berlin. But we think that the issue of the
preservation of occupation rights can’t be raised now. We
think that since 14 years have passed since the end of the
war, it is time for a peace treaty.

The USSR proposed keeping a symbolic force in
West Berlin. For our part, we are prepared to give a
guarantee of access to West Berlin.

So where are the disagreements?
In the fact that the Western powers don’t want to

carry out negotiations on guarantees with the GDR,
although we already control them [i.e., guarantees of
Western access to West Berlin] about 95%. Thus, the issue
is the following: we must give a guarantee in the name of
the GDR separately from four power agreements.
Although in fact this will be an agreement of five powers.
Gromyko is trying to achieve this at the conference [in
Geneva]. But the West is not agreeing to it.

If an agreement of the four powers is reached at a
summit on this question, we are prepared to publish a
declaration on guarantees separately.

We also need to decide which tactics to follow on the

issue of reunification. Our delegation in Geneva raised the
question of whether we should publish in Geneva our
declaration concerning a confederation. This question was
discussed in the Politburo. But doubts arose among us
about the utility of such a step at the current moment,
since the Conference of Ministers of Foreign Affairs is not
especially suitable for this.

Maybe it would be better to do this at a summit
conference?

At the conference in Geneva, Gromyko raised the
question of having an all-German committee study the
questions of the preparation and conclusion of a peace
treaty and the reunification of the country. If the Soviet
comrades don’t object, maybe we could discuss with the
Soviet side how an all-German committee could study the
peaceful resolution of the German question, and could
give an instruction to our [Foreign] Minister [Lothar] Bolz
to make corresponding proposals in Geneva and announce
that we are also ready to discuss the question of
reunification in this commission.

The next issue is a summit conference. If at a summit
conference the positions move closer together and if some
sort of agreement is reached, we would welcome all this,
because we think that this would facilitate a return to a
discussion of the issue of a peace treaty. However, the
details of this can be dealt with later.

This, in short, is what I wanted to say.
Khrushchev:  We have discussed all of these

questions and believe that Geneva has given good results.
It showed the unrealistic policy of [U.S. Secretary of State
John Foster] Dulles which is aimed at the so-called
“liberation” of Eastern Europe. This policy, which is
directed at a blockade of Eastern Europe, the subversion of
these countries from within, etc., is completely bankrupt.
And it was clearly shown that efforts to subvert the
countries of Eastern Europe from the socialist path of
development completely failed.

Instead of this, they came to the conference in Geneva
[and] agreed to the invitation of the GDR to the
conference, which signifies de facto recognition of the
GDR. Thus, the situation as a whole has turned out
favorably for us. As regards the question of the unification
of Germany, this problem is now used by the West only
for propagandistic goals. The information which we have
completely supports this. When our responsible comrades
spoke about this question with representatives of the West,
the latter directly said that the reunification of Germany is
impossible.

De Gaulle, for example, said: “We are not for two
Germanys, but really for three and even four.” Eisenhower
implied to Gromyko that the USA considers unification
impossible at the present time, remarking that, in his view,
it is a long process.

Macmillan and Adenauer also think this way. The
latter is especially afraid of German unification and as
long as he is alive—there won’t be reunification.

We correctly announced in Geneva that we are for
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German reunification, but that this issue must be resolved
by the Germans themselves, that is the main thing, that is
the essence of our position.

Now we have prepared new proposals, which
Gromyko will put forward today. These proposals don’t
change anything, but tactically it is advantageous for us to
make them. The essence of these proposals is that we
propose creating an all-German committee from the two
German states on an equal basis (with a proportion of 1:1).
This committee must be occupied with issues of bringing
together the two German governments, developing
contacts between them, and preparing a peace treaty. The
four great powers have no responsibility for the activity of
this committee and will not give them any instructions.
The Germans themselves must resolve all issues connected
with the activity of this committee.

Aside from this, we don’t think it’s worth it now to
push the West to the wall, so that we will not give the
impression that we are seeking the recognition of the
GDR.

The Americans don’t want to recognize the GDR.
They can’t do this for prestige reasons. That, and we
would be offended. They didn’t recognize us for 16 years
[until 1933—ed.], and you want them to recognize you
after 10 years. You need to wait at least 17 years. (p. 5) In
any case, such a stating of the issue, such an intention
from our side would hinder the relaxation of tensions.

You know that there is a demagogic system in the
USA, there are 2 parties, but both are charlatans. They
have said so much against the socialist camp, that they
can’t now recognize the GDR. And if [Christian] Herter
[new U.S. Secretary of State] agreed to it, he would
quickly be fired. So we have to reckon with such a
situation. In such a situation, we must work out our tactics
carefully. We need not Bolz but the Western
representatives themselves to put forward proposals
advantageous to us. We must make our proposals in such a
way that they move them forward like their own, and we
will support them. We don’t need to rush, we must wait.
We cannot show that we are in a hurry to get acceptance
of our proposals in rough form.

Regarding the future of the Geneva conference, we
can already say now that it won’t have any tangible
results. We spoke about this earlier also, since the situation
itself still doesn’t have a basis for positive resolutions.

In addition, in my opinion, not one self-respecting
prime minister will allow his minister of foreign affairs,
due to prestige considerations, to sign an agreement on
concrete issues. You don’t think de Gaulle will allow his
minister to sign an important decision?  Neither
Eisenhower nor Macmillan would allow this either.

Geneva—it’s a test of strength, it’s a sounding out of
positions.

Therefore, our proposals must be put in such a form
that they will be attractive to the population.

However, on the whole we must notice that the
situation now has become so difficult that the Americans

must find a way out. But prestige considerations strongly
pin them down. The USA recognizes that the situation in
West Berlin is abnormal, and that it is necessary to
normalize it. They are talking, for example, about an
agreement now on reducing the number of their troops in
West Berlin from 10,000 to 7,500. But the issue of the
number of troops in Berlin has no significance for the
correlation of forces. We even spoke about this with
Macmillan during his visit to Moscow. We told him: send
100,000 troops to West Berlin, but this will be worse only
for you, and for us it will be easier, since in the event of an
aggravation of the situation, these troops actually would
find themselves surrounded, in a trap.

Currently the USA is also proposing to agree on the
liquidation of espionage centers and radio stations, the
cessation of propaganda, [and] the liquidation of
subversive activities on the condition that we guarantee
their rights in West Berlin.

We told them that we can’t do that, since already
more than 14 years have passed since the end of the war.
However, we don’t want to make an ultimatum, but we
want to show that we are looking for real possibilities for
the resolution of these problems.

They also proposed freezing the number of forces in
West Berlin [and] agreeing that there won’t be any rocket
or atomic weapons there before German unification. And
Gromyko is currently waiting for instructions from us on
this issue.

Now the question of the peace treaty. Earlier we said
that in the event of the Western powers’ refusal to sign a
peace treaty with the two German governments, we would
sign a peace treaty with the GDR. But now it is necessary
to create a safety-valve. Therefore we are proposing the
creation of an all-German committee. Without us, but on
our recommendation, the committee would deal with the
issue of the preparation of a peace treaty and the
reunification of the country. We are proposing a concrete
period of activity for this committee—for example, 1-1 1/2
years, that is, until 1961. If the Germans don’t come to an
agreement among themselves in this period, we will be
free from any obligations and we will look for the
possibility of concluding a peace treaty with the two
German governments or with one German government.

But during this period, that is, until 1961, they must
reduce their forces in West Berlin, stop subversive activity
[and] propaganda, [and] liquidate espionage centers. This
is the main thing. We agree to the temporary preservation
of the occupation regime until 1961.

Why are we doing this? It would be very attractive to
all pacifists, since we will show them that we are acting
without an ultimatum, but searching for a way for the
resolution of these issues.

On the other hand, it is necessary to allow time so that
the Western powers can move away from their old
position.

The situation in this case is complicated in the
following way: we are giving the Germans time to find a
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way out, but if they can’t find it, then how can we help?
This is a very advantageous position. And what will

we lose? Nothing. The resolution of the issue is only put
off for a year or a year-and-a-half. And what will happen
in this time? They will be weaker, and we will be stronger.
Therefore, I think that we don’t need to force the pace of
events on this issue, since then the neutral states and many
proponents of peace in the whole world won’t understand
us. We must not alienate our friends and neutral states.

The fact of the GDR’s existence and development has
already been recognized by Eisenhower and Macmillan,
and public opinion understands and supports the GDR
even more.

There is also a process of evolution among the
German people. The progressive forces support the GDR
and this process will be strengthened in the future. This is
why Adenauer is enraged. And so, he doesn’t want the
liquidation of the “cold war.”

The question is: will they accept our new proposals?
One can say with 70% certainty that they won’t.

So then it will be even more necessary to have a
summit meeting.

Speaking as a whole, the essence of our differences of
opinion on this question are that they want to drag out the
occupation regime, and we want to limit it. Therefore, on
the one hand, we will allegedly concede to them, but at the
same limit their time, giving them the possibility to
reform.

Last year, we raised these issues [i.e., the 27
November 1958 ultimatum]. Now already almost a year
has gone by, but in this time we have already turned
around the core of public opinion. Therefore I would like
to recall here a Russian saying, which says that if you have
thrown the adversary to the ground, you don’t need to then
kneel on his chest. We don’t need to show that we won.
We should give the impression that both sides won. Let
them yell about their victory, but we will say that it was
also our victory.

In 1961 the GDR will start to surpass the FRG in
standard of living. This will have very great political
significance. This will be a bomb for them. Therefore, our
position is to gain time.

Grotewohl:  We could hardly reckon that they would
agree with our proposals in Geneva. At the current time,
the conference is in a decisive stage. It is possible that the
Soviet proposals will be rejected. But this can’t mean that
there won’t be a summit conference. Our goal is to win
time. Any time which we win for negotiations, any
negotiations is better than a “cold war.” Precisely from this
position, we must come to an appreciation of the world-
wide historical scene, including the German question,
which has subordinate significance.

Sometimes among us Germans, is seems that for us
only Germany exists. But as a whole in international
politics, the German question must take up only as much
space as it merits.

We, as representatives of Germany, must have the

possibility of freely appearing before the whole German
people on issues which are of vital importance to them.

In reference to Comrade Khrushchev, the Soviet
proposals don’t have any limitations for us in this regard,
therefore I support these proposals.

If it is possible to reach some sort of compromise, that
is, if the Germans will be forced to carry out negotiations
between them, then this already will be an enormous step
forward, it will mean recognition of the GDR. If West
Germany refuses this, then this too will be a big plus for
us, it will give us the opportunity to activate our work in
the West. But the strength of this influence on the West
will depend on taking some sort of positive step. For
example, the renunciation of arming the German
government with atomic weapons. We think that we must
achieve this. This will give a new impetus.

Other positive steps would be the liquidation of all
subversive centers.

The situation for us is clear, and if the subversive
centers aren’t liquidated, then we ourselves will undertake
measures for the guarantee of our security.

The main thing is that people in the whole world see
that a step forward has been made in the safeguarding of
peace. And this step could be the prohibition of atomic
weapons in Germany. From the point of view of German
policy [Deutschlandpolitik], these proposals are
acceptable.

We must discuss together the situation in Geneva.
And it would be desirable if the representatives of the
National Front and other parties who are present here
would express their point of view on these questions.

Khrushchev:  Our proposals are not connected with
an initiative of the German comrades. The proposals
which have been made by the German comrades are very
good. But I think that you shouldn’t appeal directly to the
West.

Ulbricht:  (rejoinder) They still aren’t used to us.
Khrushchev:  We are ready to listen to the opinions

of all comrades who want to speak here on the issues we
have touched upon.

Bach:  I am certain that the new proposals of the
Soviet government will find a positive response among the
German people, because they correspond not only to the
wishes of the GDR but also to the interests of the peace-
loving forces of the FRG. Those sections of the population
of West Germany who have been afraid until now to enter
into contact with representatives of the GDR will now be
activated. We must bear in mind that if the proposal for
the creation of an all-German committee is accepted, it
will help to encourage those forces in West Germany
which have shown indecisiveness until now. In my
opinion, it is also important that the work of the committee
will be for a limited time.

Among the population, there has been a growing view
that the conference didn’t deal much with the issue of
German unification. Insofar as the entire package of the
Western Powers skirted around the question of the
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unification of Germany, our new proposals in which the
issue of unification is raised will allow us to take back the
initiative.

Homann: I support what has been said here by the
comrades. The question of ensuring security and peace is
also the primary one for us. All other issues are derived
from and subordinate to this question. Therefore I think
that the proposals made here are correct. Negotiations in
an all-German committee which must be carried out
before 1961, will give us the opportunity to lay out
broadly our position, to show that from our side the
national question is decided on a path of peace and
peaceful coexistence with other countries, and to show that
the development of the GDR guarantees a happy future of
Germany. We can also demonstrate that the policy carried
out in the GDR under the leadership of the working class
is really a national policy.

Loch: Adenauer represents himself as a fighter for
democracy and unification, but Adenauer’s decision to
withdraw his candidacy for president called forth a wave
of protest and opened the eyes of many to the real state of
affairs in the FRG.

Therefore, Khrushchev’s proposals will have great
significance. An all-German committee which will decide
the fate of Germany, this is of course a step forward. The
creation of this committee could activate the opposition
forces in West Germany. The strengthening contacts
between West German and GDR parties will gain new
impetus.

In conclusion, I would like to express my certainty
that we will return with good results to the GDR, which
will allow us to strengthen our struggle for realizing the
tasks which are before us.

Scholz: If we want peace, we can only agree with
your proposals.

During Geneva we tried to explain things to the
farmers and at every meeting, the question was asked: will
there be war after Geneva[?] This testifies to the fact that
people are thirsting for peace. However, some have lost
heart, they don’t see the real possibility to reach
agreement. Therefore, the formation of the committee
would be an important step in this direction which would
inspire many. Thus I entirely agree with the proposals of
the Soviet comrades.

Correns:  There has already been a lot said here
about Khrushchev’s proposals. I think that these proposals
will be well accepted in West Germany, since they are
intelligent.

The propaganda in the FRG tries to present everything
as if the USSR always says no. The new Soviet proposals
cut the ground out from under this propaganda. This will
give us great help in our all-German work and will give us
the opportunity to start a conversation with the population
of the FRG.

Khrushchev:  If there aren’t more people who want
to speak, I would like to elaborate on one issue. The
Western Powers are not accepting our proposals for a free

city. But psychologically they are already prepared that a
treaty with the GDR will be signed. Therefore, they are
now especially worried about the situation in West Berlin.
They are asking us, they are defining precisely, what the
situation in Berlin will be. From their side, they have put
forward the formulation that the GDR exercises control
over the communications of the Western Powers with
West Berlin “as agents of” the Soviet Union. We
immediately answered them that this is unacceptable to us.
But there is one question of theirs we must answer. They
are saying: what will happen if the GDR one day takes the
initiative and closes communications between West Berlin
and the West?

And so on this issue there must be clear agreement.
This has vital significance, even in relations between
friends. We can imagine two forms of such guarantees:

1) The GDR together with the Western powers signs
an agreement on guarantees. But the West probably won’t
agree to this. And we don’t really need to achieve this.

2) The GDR guarantees it by a unilateral declaration.
However, in this case the Western powers want us to

make the guarantee for your guarantee.
Ulbricht:  Please. [i.e., okay]
Khrushchev: This would not be right. We can’t do

this. Therefore, we must sign an agreement with the
Western powers which will be registered at the UN, in
which it is foreseen that in the event that the GDR violates
its obligations regarding guarantees, then the great powers
together will seek measures to bring pressures to bear on
the GDR.

In our view, this is the only possible path right now.
Do you have other proposals on this issue?
Ulbricht:  Will this point of view be proposed at

Geneva or at a summit?
Khrushchev: Yes, in Geneva. If we don’t do this at

the Geneva conference, a vacuum might be created at
Geneva and there won’t be any sense of a future at the
conference.

We don’t know whether Eisenhower will agree to this.
But it is necessary for world opinion to know about these
positive proposals by our side.

Ulbricht:  The remarks by Comrade Khrushchev are
very important. The time is really ripe for this. We must
find a way out. But it is clear that we can’t solve all issues
in one stroke. Therefore I discussed the peace treaty very
carefully, since it’s clear that the signing of a peace treaty
with the GDR would exacerbate the situation, for which
we are not now prepared. Economically, we still cannot
exert influence on the West; therefore, we must win time.
This also concerns our policy with regard to the Social
Democrats [SED] and the opposition circles of the West
through which to isolate Adenauer. The signing of a peace
treaty with the GDR would complicate the situation. In all
regards, Khrushchev’s proposals correspond to the real
situation and our domestic political situation.

But we are interested that the issue of nuclear
disarmament remain on the agenda. We must constantly
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discuss this, since only by this path can we isolate
Adenauer. Therefore we will put special stress on all
issues which are understood by the majority of the German
people. Our opinions in this regard concur completely. All
parties in the GDR support these proposals. Accordingly,
we will give corresponding instructions to our delegation
in Geneva.

And in the future we will declare our support for a
non-aggression pact between the two German states and
for the liquidation of the occupation regime in West
Berlin. But from the point of view of the development of
the situation in Berlin, we also need to gain time, since
Western propaganda is now maintaining that the
dependence of West Berlin on the East would mean the
lowering of the standard of living in it.

Khrushchev: I would like to quickly sum up the
exchange of views on these issues. I would like to express
my sincere gratitude to the German friends for the fact that
you correctly understand us and between us there is a
complete unity of views that the German people support
us.

This inspires certainty in us, this attests to us that our
policy is right. If all the parties in the GDR approve of it,
that means that world public opinion will correctly
perceive it also. This understanding is a great victory of
our peace-loving policy.

Ulbricht:  I would like to speak some more about the
situation in the GDR. The first months of fulfilling the
plan of this year speak to the fact that we are quickly
moving forward. We have been thoroughly occupied with
certain branches [of the economy], especially chemical
[industry and] construction, therefore we have achieved
well-known successes. In construction, business has also
gotten better now. Currently we are occupied with light
industry and trade where we have well-known lags.

The main issue for us now is the increase of work
productivity and the reconstruction of industry. In the
chemical industry, the corresponding plan has already
been worked out. For other branches, we are discussing
[the plans]. It is also a new development that cooperation
between the workers and intelligentsia is developing and
growing. Brigades of socialist labor have been formed.
There are about 10,000 of these brigades. The stimulus for
this was an initiative of the Soviet comrades in creating
brigades of communist labor. It is true that we have them
at a lower level than you do, but it is occurring without
any kind of propaganda or pressure from above. Thus we
highly value this development.

In this connection, we have a request—to
bureaucratize and broaden the cooperation and ties
between large enterprises of our countries. Until now, too
many functionaries [and] trade-union workers, but not
direct representatives of industry have travelled [to us].
We should develop connections between exemplary
industrial factory workers.

Until August, we are mainly working on a plan for
developing agriculture for the period up to 1965. But we

have tasks which we cannot resolve with our own forces
by 1961. It is a question of acquiring some foodstuffs and
consumer goods, such as wool, coffee, cocoa, and
southern [tropical] fruits.

Khrushchev:  We will give you oil instead of cocoa.
Ulbricht:  Of course we can survive even without

cocoa. But the question here is about comparing the
standard of living in the GDR with West Germany and
West Berlin. At the current time, the population still goes
to West Berlin to buy some of these goods, which has, of
course, negative political consequences.

We have a list of goods which we need, and we ask
you to familiarize yourself with it and to see how you can
help us. We are prepared to pay for everything you want in
1963. This is a proposal of the Politburo and planning
commission. We aren’t presenting these lists for
negotiations. We would only like your specialists to look
them over and tell us how they could help us. Concretely,
the question is of a credit of 700 million rubles over 2
years, 1961-1962.

Khrushchev: Let [Bruno] Leuschner [Head of the
GDR State Planning Committee and Politburo member]
and Mikoian study this question.

Ulbricht:  I would also like to inform you about the
situation in agriculture. The development of our
agricultural production is proceeding normally on the
whole. At the current time, SKhPK’s [Agricultural
Production Cooperatives] occupy 49% of land space. We
want to strengthen the weak SKhPK’s now, and give
agricultural technology to the strong cooperatives.  We are
not planning to speed up the tempo of the
cooperativization of the farmers.

In the area of cattle-breeding, we have well-known
difficulties. But we are studying these problems now so as
to overcome the shortcomings we have here. On the
whole, I would like to emphasize again that our
agricultural situation is not bad.

We have another request. It has to do with broadening
the scientific-technical cooperation between our countries.
In several areas we have already achieved world standards.
In other areas we are strongly lacking. Therefore we
would request that you help us in the development of the
chemical industry and in several other areas. I have in
mind giving us help in the matter of mastering the
technology of new machines. We will give you our best
machines, the organization of technological processes for
producing these machines, the blueprints for these
machines, etc., and you will give us yours. In addition, we
ask you to familiarize us with the models of those
machines which you buy in America and other capitalist
countries. For example, we now produce beautiful
artificial fibers, but we are very backward in the
production of weaving machines. Our research council
worked out a concrete plan and proposal on this issue.
And we already gave an order to stop the production of
old machines. We are in a good position, for example, in
heavy machine building and in the chemical industry
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where you exerted certain pressure on us.
But we can only surpass West Germany by carrying

out a quick reconstruction of industry. Without this we
cannot resolve our main economic task. Besides, our
intelligentsia compares not only our standard of living
with the level of West Germany, but also the level of
production. Therefore, it would have great significance
also for the resolution of the question about the
intelligentsia.

In sum, the issue is to strengthen [our] exchange and
cooperation.

Your delegation which was in the GDR already gave
us significant help in this regard. We hope that this
cooperation will strengthen even more in the future.

We also think that it is time to broaden the
cooperation between our countries in the area of schools,
including in the preparation of textbooks.

Until recently, this matter was going badly here. But it
has improved in the past year. It is true that we have some
different forms and methods of work, but the principles
are the same. The same basic problems face you and face
us. We are now preparing new school laws which will be
implemented shortly. The main direction in which we are
going is the introduction of polytechnical education in the
schools.

But we are particularly behind in the development of
new textbooks and in this regard we need more significant
help.

Khrushchev:  We agree with you. And we will give
you help where we can. But these issues are difficult.
Therefore let’s wrestle [with them] together. The question
of schools, of course, is easier than the question of
reconstructing industry. And what you need, what you find
good for you [from us], take it. If something isn’t suitable
for you, don’t take it. Here we must have a free exchange
of views.

It’s harder with machines. And the issue here isn’t
with secrecy, but with the fact that we have very many
machines, and we ourselves often don’t know whether we
make them worse or better than other countries.

In this connection I would like to say that I really
liked your [trade] fair. It gives an idea of a level of
achievement of world technology. It even served as a
stimulus for the CPSU CC plenum which will meet this
month.

On the whole we want to say—let your engineers look
at what is suitable for you, and what is suitable, take. We
buy a lot of machines abroad. You can also get the
blueprints of these machines, and your engineers can assist
in their assembling.

Thank you for the information on the situation in your
country.

Ulbricht:   We need to agree on working out the text
of the communique. From our side, comrades Leuschner,
Kundermann and Korb could participate in its preparation.

Khrushchev:  From our side, comrades [V.V.]
Kuznetsov [First Deputy Foreign Minister], [Mikhail]

Pervukhin [Soviet Ambassador to the GDR], [and]
[Vladimir] Semenov [Deputy Foreign Minister] will
participate.

Grotewohl:  I have one concern. Ulbricht already
expressed our ideas, our points of view on economic
issues. We agreed that Leuschner will discuss this with
comrade Patolichev. But we already ran into this problem
in the past. If comrades approach this question from the
point of view of foreign trade, then the whole matter will
be reduced “to a pencil.” But in our conditions economic
problems turn into political ones.

If we obtain the creation of an all-German committee,
but then we have to retreat, our position will be
deplorable. Therefore, I really ask you to take this
situation into account. We need credits for 1961 and 1962,
and I would ask that the Soviet comrades approach this
issue from the perspective of what I have said.

Khrushchev:  We will look at all of this. We must
reckon with our real capabilities.

I would like to remind you that we began the
competition with capitalism naked and with bare feet. The
people believed us not only due to the promises of sausage
and beer, but also due to the teachings of Marx and Lenin.

The Americans are placing great hopes now in the
organization of their exhibit in Moscow. They are
reckoning that the Soviet people, looking at their [the
American] achievements, will turn away from their
[Soviet] government. But the Americans don’t understand
our people. We want to turn the exhibit against the
Americans. We will tell our people: look, this is what the
richest country of capitalism has achieved in one hundred
years. Socialism will give us the opportunity to achieve
this significantly faster.

Therefore, we won’t raise the issue of socialism or
coffee. Socialism—first, but coffee must be delivered,
today maybe not the whole cup, but tomorrow the whole
cup.

We aren’t tradesmen, we are friends. Therefore, we
approach all issues politically. But before giving an
answer, we must consider, we must look at our capabilities
[to help you economically].

Notes taken by: comrades Beletskii, Kotomkin,
Myal’dizin

Document No. 2
“Summary of the Talks with the GDR Party-

Governmental Delegation on 18 June 1959. On the
Soviet side, the same people took part as in the

previous meeting, and also A.N. Kosygin and N.S
Patolichev,” 4 July 1959

Secret.  Notes taken by Beletskii, Kotomkin, Mial’dizin.

Ulbricht:   Let me express the gratitude of our
delegation for the warm welcome we received in Moscow,
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Riga, Kiev and Gorki. Our meetings were a significant
event in the development of friendship between the Soviet
Union and the GDR. We are all very pleased with the trip,
including the students who were also in our delegation.
We are very grateful to you for everything, including also
for the well-composed program. Regarding the visit to the
Exhibition of the Achievements of the National Economy
of the USSR (VDNKh), it is completely clear that we
could only become acquainted with it in general outline.
But already after that, it became clear to us that at home
we have an entire series of unresolved problems
[economically]. At home we are discussing things, but
sometimes they aren’t applied quite right. Thus, we ask
you to accept a group of our specialists for a more detailed
study of your achievements which were shown in the
Exhibition. This is particularly so with regard to
electronics and chemistry. This will have great political
significance also, because it will give our intelligentsia the
opportunity to be convinced of the superiority of Soviet
science and technology over the West, especially over the
Americans and West Germans.

Khrushchev:  We will welcome everyone who comes
to us with the goal of becoming acquainted with our
achievements.

Ulbricht:   Maybe we should listen to the report on the
prepared communiqué.

Khrushchev:  They gave us the text of the
communiqué late, and we didn’t have the opportunity to
study it in detail. Thus I propose studying in more detail
the draft communiqué we received and giving our views
through our representatives.

Ulbricht:   Agreed.
Khrushchev:  Now I would like to say a few words

on one important question, namely: on a peace treaty.
Or perhaps [should I] acquaint you with the latest

information on Geneva?
We recently received a letter from Eisenhower and

yesterday we gave an answer.9  I would like to emphasize
that in accordance with our agreement, the exchange of
letters took place confidentially.

From Eisenhower’s letter, it is clear that we can’t
expect any great results from the Geneva conference. The
Western powers bring everything back to the question of
the period of time. They say that our proposal about a time
period of 1 year is an ultimatum, although in principle the
issue of a time period was put forward by them themselves
in the overall plan.

They want to have a meeting with Adenauer, to wreck
the agreement on the committee, proposing the principle
of proportional representation on the committee. They
know, of course, that if they go for the creation of the
committee, this would be recognition of the GDR.
However, refusing our recent proposals, they at the same
time made a series of concessions and proposed limiting
the number of troops in West Berlin [and] stopping
subversive activity on its territory. But for this they want
us to confirm their rights to maintain their occupation in

West Berlin forever and to renounce signing a peace
treaty.

They are trying to represent our latest proposal as a
threat. But that isn’t what is a threat to them, the threat to
them is our will for peace and [our] readiness to have a
partial resolution of issues.

When we speak about the conclusion of a peace
treaty, we have in mind the conclusion of a peace treaty
with two or with one German state.

I don’t know whether we will bring this issue of the
signing of a peace treaty with the GDR to realization[;]
however, such a prospect acts in a sobering way on the
Western powers and West Germany. This, if you will, is
pressure on them, Damocles’ sword, which we must hold
over them.

Why? Because by the signing of a peace treaty with
the GDR they will lose all their rights to West Berlin
which come from the fact of the military defeat and the
unconditional surrender of Germany. The threat of war
from their side is nonsense, it is blackmail, since it is clear
that [merely] because of the two and a half-million
inhabitants of West Berlin, it would be unreasonable to
place under threat the lives of a hundred million people.
The more the Western powers know that there is a balance
in the area of atomic weapons and rockets, the better it is
for us.

Therefore we must directly establish our point of view
on a peace treaty in the communiqué. If we didn’t do this,
it would be a gift to Adenauer; then they would say: the
representatives of the USSR and GDR assembled and were
afraid to move away from their old positions. Thus I think
that we must continue our line on this issue and reflect our
position in the communiqué. Furthermore, this must be
strengthened by new arguments in our speeches also.

Ulbricht:   We are in full agreement with you. I would
just like to direct your attention to one issue in connection
with the communiqué. Where the recent Soviet proposals
are discussed, it says that the Soviet government agrees to
the temporary maintenance of the well-known occupation
rights of the Western powers in West Berlin. We
exchanged opinions on this issue in the delegation. We
propose to start not with West Berlin but with the
transitional time period (let’s say—1 year) during which
the commission must agree on a series of questions, that is,
to lay special stress on the fact that the Western powers
have recommended a limited transition period. This stating
of the issue corresponds to the Soviet proposals and at the
same time alleviates for the Western powers the transition
to this new position. And this facilitates our
argumentation.

Khrushchev:  Let’s not give a time period. A year or
a year-and-a-half—this isn’t a key issue for us. We are
agreed on different time periods, but we aren’t agreed on
endlessness. Let us act more flexibly on this issue, using a
sliding scale of time periods. They are proposing two-and-
a-half years, we [are proposing] one year. Maybe we will
agree on something in between.
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Ulbricht:   For us, the main thing now is not to drive
them into a corner, but to give them the possibility to
change their position.

Khrushchev:  Maybe I will acquaint you with the
contents of Eisenhower’s letter and our answer to it. (The
text of the letters is read.)

As you see, in principle there is nothing new, only a
repetition and elaboration of what has been said earlier.
The new thing is just that we are agreed to make a
compromise on the issue of a time period. And this we
must emphasize in the communiqué.

I would like to emphasize again that the Western
powers aren’t interested in a peace treaty, because
otherwise they would weaken the threads which are
connected with NATO. The present position already
weakens NATO, but signing a peace treaty with Germany,
this would mean normalizing the situation in Europe. But
then how could the Americans keep Denmark,
Luxembourg [and] Greece in NATO?

And even the seemingly strong tie of de Gaulle with
Adenauer—this is a relative understanding. In France the
issue of the removal of American bombers from their
country was raised.

Now a few more words on the peace treaty. When the
Western powers want to sign any sort of treaty, they don’t
think about anything. This was how it was, for example,
with the conclusion of the treaty with Japan [which the
U.S. signed with Japan in 1951 and didn’t include the
Soviets]. And they weren’t blamed by us for the signing of
separate peace treaty. Therefore, in order to unmask them,
we must write directly in the communiqué: we will
achieve the conclusion of a peace treaty with Germany.
But if the reactionary forces will hinder this, then we agree
to conclude a peace treaty with two German states. And if
the Western powers don’t want this, then we will conclude
a peace treaty with the GDR.

In concluding a peace treaty with 2 German states or
with the GDR, all agreements on the occupation will cease
their operation. There is no point in discussing West Berlin
separately from the issue of the peace treaty, since this
doesn’t have equivalent value. These aren’t two questions
but one question. Berlin is an issue derived from the
problem of a peace treaty. But we must clearly speak in
the communiqué about the status of the free city of West
Berlin[;] otherwise we will be accused of agreeing to
swallow up West Berlin. Clearly we must also speak about
guarantees.

Ulbricht:   We agree.
We also heard that [U.S. Secretary of State Christian]

Herter wants to exclude the German question and agree
only on the cessation of the testing of nuclear weapons. He
is looking here for a path to a summit conference. As for
us, we think that without any reduction of tensions, we
cannot move forward including on the German question.
Thus, if the Western powers want to talk about
disarmament, it wouldn’t be bad, because then we would
again come to the question of a peace treaty, but from the

other side.
I would also like to note that only a part of the

German people understand the slogans about a peace
treaty. Thus we will put on the main plan those issues of
the peace treaty which are more understood by all, such as
for example the liquidation of rocket bases and the
prohibition of atomic arms in West Germany. Proceeding
from this, it is in our interests that the summit conference
will be successful on the issue of atomic disarmament.

Khrushchev:  That is correct. But the main thing is to
fulfill the resolutions of the [SED] 5th congress [of July
1958], to raise the standard of living. Then it will be clear
to each German where there is freedom and where there
isn’t freedom.

Grotewohl:  From a general estimation, I agree with
what has been said here. I just have one reservation. It
seems to me that the comparison with Japan appears a bit
formal. Signing a peace treaty with Germany and with
Japan are two different things. Japan was a single state at
the moment of the signing of the treaty, but Germany is
divided. If we sign a peace treaty, the good conditions will
be complicated. However, in the West, they will try to
present the signing of a peace treaty with the GDR as the
deepening of the division of the country. If there is a peace
treaty signed with the GDR, this would mean that there
would be written into it something about the acceleration
of militarism in the GDR, whereas the problem lies in the
acceleration of militarism in West Germany. Since at the
current time we can’t count on the conclusion of a peace
treaty with Germany or with two German states, then,
obviously, this national problem—stopping the arming of
(p. 7) West Germany must be resolved now by other
means, by the fulfillment of the resolutions of the 5th
Congress. We cannot separate these issues.

What we need to study now, what we need to resolve
is to determine our relations to the occupying powers and
to the occupying authorities. The Western powers
currently are formulating their entire policy on the
principle that they are allegedly defending freedom and
Western culture. They declare that for the defense of this
freedom they must maintain the occupation of West
Berlin. This explains the fact that they are fighting
persistently for their formulation of preserving their rights
of occupation.

Thus N.S. Khrushchev’s proposal not to give a
concrete time period in the communiqué is correct. This
will make our position more flexible. Proceeding from
this, we must find such a formulation in the communiqué
which will present the liquidation of the occupation
regime as a necessary process of development in order to
make that understandable to everyone.

The most decisive thing in all the negotiations is to
win time, and time can be won only through negotiations.
So, I agree with you.

Ebert:   I would like to speak about the issue of a
peace treaty and about Berlin. I agree that a peace treaty
and Berlin are one issue. But for our activity in Berlin, it is
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important to emphasize that by preserving the current
situation, we can find a way to normalize the situation in
Berlin (pushing off from their concessions to bring about
the stopping of subversive activity, propaganda, etc.).
Their proposals on this are already a step towards the
normalization of the situation. I must emphasize that
normalization is possible not only on technical issues
(connections, transport, etc.) but also in political relations.
The normalization of life in the city is the basis of our
proposals on Berlin. Thus we must obtain such a
normalization more persistently and as soon as possible,
since this will be understood by the whole population.

Khrushchev:  I think that the comments made by
Comrade Ebert are correct and they must be taken into
account in preparing the communiqué.

Bach:  We were very surprised that the last proposal
of the Soviet Union in Geneva10 was seen as an ultimatum
by the Western powers. What Comrade Khrushchev said
regarding the answer to Eisenhower is a question of
diplomatic tactics. We all agree with these tactics.
Comrade Khrushchev emphasized that even if we don’t
speak of time periods, the main issues remain in force.

Khrushchev:  Yes.
Bach:  We take this into account in our communiqué.

If I understood correctly, we should write [in the
communiqué] that, in case at Geneva there is no principled
agreement reached regarding the signing of a peace treaty
with Germany, the USSR is ready to sign a separate peace
treaty with the GDR.

Khrushchev:  We will not call that treaty separate.
We must show that not only the USSR, but all countries
which are ready for it can sign a peace treaty with the
GDR. A number of countries have already declared their
agreement to sign such a treaty with the German
Democratic Republic.

Homann:  On the question of the methods of the
realization of our principles, we are ready to compromise,
but on the main issues we must remain unbending. The
main thing is that what we have said here must be
reflected in the communiqué, since this will strengthen the
certainty of those who are fighting for peace in Germany.

It is important to write this down, since we evaluated
here developments in Germany and the progress of the
conference in Geneva. And a basis would be established
for further movement forward on the German question.

Scholz: I would like to emphasize that a peace treaty
with the GDR is not only a means of pressure on the
Western powers, but it also has great significance for the
domestic political situation in the GDR. For a long time,
we have mobilized the people of the Republic under this
slogan. We made a series of concessions, but we must now
emphasize that our position remains unchanged on basic
issues.

However, it is necessary to emphasize this in the
communiqué, but without naming a concrete time period.
We already have experience with the date May 27 [the
deadline for Khrushchev’s 27 November 1958 ultimatum].

As is well-known, on that day everyone in the GDR
expected that something would happen. Therefore, it is
better not to decree a concrete date, but to preserve
freedom of movement for oneself. It will alleviate our
political work, although it may also seem that we are not
consistent.

Mikoian:  I would like to respond to Comrade
Grotewohl regarding the analogy between the peace treaty
with Germany and the peace treaty with Japan. Of course,
there is a difference between a peace treaty with Germany
and a peace treaty with Japan. But in this case, the issue is
different. The analogy with Japan helps us. The Western
powers fought against Japan together with us and signed
an act on its capitulation. And we all should have signed a
peace treaty with Japan together. But they themselves
violated that principle. It is a very serious argument in our
hands against them.

They think that so long as there isn’t a peace treaty,
all conditions connected with the capitulation are still
active, and the occupation rights remain in force. When we
proposed concluding a peace treaty with Germany, it was
a correct and strong approach from our side. This proposal
cut the ground out from under their feet. Before they
didn’t want to talk about Berlin at all, but now they are
forced to carry out negotiations with us on it.

We would like to sign a peace treaty with a united
Germany. We propose to give a certain time period for
achieving agreement on this issue between the German
states. If such an agreement is not reached, then we are
ready to conclude a peace treaty with two German states.
If the Western powers won’t agree to this either, then we
will sign a treaty with the GDR.

But they don’t want the signing of a peace treaty at
all. Therefore, if they will be afraid that there will be a
peace treaty signed with the GDR, which would deprive
them of their occupation rights, then they will be forced to
find a new path for agreement. The threat of signing a
peace treaty will force them to carry out negotiations with
us.

I think that Comrade Scholz was right when he talked
about the great significance of a peace treaty also for the
GDR. It is important for the GDR, because it would raise
its significance in the eyes of world public opinion.

Khrushchev:  We could take examples from history.
When, for example, the revolution occurred in Russia and
the Soviet representatives carried out negotiations with
Germany in Brest in early 1918, the German government
signed a peace treaty with [Simon] Petliura and turned
their troops on Ukraine, and not only on Ukraine, but all
the way to Rostov. And Russia waged war with Germany
being a united state.

Or take the example of Vietnam. In Geneva in 1954
the great powers agreed on the carrying out of free
elections in Vietnam [after] a two year period. Were there
elections? There weren’t. Who fought against holding
these elections? Mainly, the USA fought against this. It
wasn’t advantageous to them, and so they didn’t even
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think about elections.
It appears that capitalistic morals go like the wind

blows—they do what is advantageous for them. When it is
advantageous to them, they find the necessary arguments.

Now about proportional representation. They say, for
example, that the GDR is one-third of Germany, and the
FRG is two-thirds. But if we take China, 600 million
people live in the PRC [People’s Republic of China], and
10 million people live on Taiwan. And who do the
Americans recognize, whose representative sits in the UN?

Such are the morals of a blockhead.
Or Guatemala. With the help of rough forces, the

USA expelled the democratic government [of Jacob
Arbenz in 1954] which they didn’t like, because it was
advantageous to them [to do so].

Furthermore, the Americans maintain, for example,
that Franco’s Spain is a free country, and they want to
accept it in NATO.

Therefore we must always understand with whom we
are dealing. They are bandits. If we were weak, they
would long ago have resolved the German question to
their advantage.

Adenauer decided to remain chancellor in order to
carry out a “policy of strength” better than Dulles himself
did.

So we must not forget that if we let down our guard,
they will swallow us up.

However, we have the means to scratch them slightly
on the throat.

Our cause is just. They will not start a war, and we all
the more [won’t].

Developments are going in our favor. This is true not
only for the USSR, but all for the socialist countries,
including also the GDR. The GDR must exert socialist
influence on the entire West. We have everything we need
to do this.

Look at how the situation changed in 1956. They
didn’t want to shake hands with us. And now Macmillan
himself came to us. And soon [U.S. Vice President] Nixon
and [Averell] Harriman will come travel around our
country. And it is because a difficult situation has been
created for them, and it will become more difficult.

If they accused us earlier of resolving social problems
by force, now everyone can be convinced that we decide
these issues by the force of the example of socialist
organization.

Thus our communiqué will have great significance. It
will also reflect our peace-loving firmness.

Ulbricht:   Thank you very much for your
explanation.

Khrushchev:  We are very glad that our points of
views coincide. This is especially important for such a
pointed issue as the German one. Speaking of our united
views, I have in mind the representatives of all the parties
of the National Front of Democratic Germany.

Ulbricht:   Comrade Khrushchev emphasized that the
most decisive issue for us is the issue of the fulfillment of

the main economic tasks. We, on our side, are doing all to
realize these tasks. Therefore we have set ourselves the
goal of surpassing the FRG. This will have great
significance also for the resolution of the Berlin issue. It
isn’t accidental therefore that [Berlin Mayor Wily Brandt
recently said that the question of the struggle for Berlin is
a question of the struggle of two systems.

However, for realizing the tasks before us, we ask you
to give us help. Comrade Leuschner informed us about the
talks which took place on this issue. We thank you for
giving us help.

Khrushchev:  Are we finished with the question of
the communiqué? Let the responsible officials definitively
edit the text of the communiqué keeping in mind also the
comments of Comrade Ebert about how we are ready to
eliminate in parts the phenomena which are interfering
with the reduction of tensions, although it can’t be done
immediately. This would be a good beginning on the
matter of the reduction of tensions, [and] it would lay the
way for reaching agreement on the German question.

If there aren’t other comments, let us move to
economic issues.

Maybe the comrades who carried out negotiations on
economic issues could inform us of the results.

Ulbricht:   Maybe we could listen to Comrade
Leuschner.

Leuschner:  We conducted the negotiations on the
basis of the lists which were presented by the German
side. During the negotiations, Comrade [N.] Patolichev
[Minister of Foreign Trade] noted that the Soviet Union
acquires a series of goods for us which we need from the
capitalist market.

We understood Comrade Patolichev such that the
Soviet Union is prepared to grant us credit in 1960 in the
amount of 250 million rubles, for which will be acquired
wool, cocoa, coffee, southern fruits, leather, etc. (we asked
for 400 million rubles); 200 million rubles in 1961 for the
same goods (we asked for 400 million rubles); and in 1962
120 million rubles (we asked for 300 million rubles).

Regarding the payment for this, Comrade Patolichev
suggested to fix that in the annual talks. We agreed with
this proposal.

Now we can return to working on the seven-year plan.
In September, Comrade Ulbricht submitted the draft
seven-year plan to the Volkskammer [the GDR
parliament], and we will have the opportunity to work
with a clear perspective. Now all issues which were open
for us have been resolved.

It is true that we didn’t completely reach the level of
demand in the FRG in certain goods. But that isn’t the
main thing. Our plan is strained, but we will apply all our
forces to fulfill it.

Khrushchev:  We already have some experience with
talks with the union republics on the composition of plans.
Usually they always ask for two-three times more.

Leuschner:  We didn’t have in mind giving lists for
negotiations, and we haven’t raised too high demands.
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Khrushchev:  I had in mind here our workers. Aside
from this, you must bear in mind that developments
sometimes go better than we plan. Thus you must keep in
mind that as for us, you can open additional possibilities
which will facilitate the resolution of the problems before
us.

Mikoian:   The comrades pointed here to the necessity
of buying southern fruits. These products could be
acquired for the GDR from the lesser developed states of
the East in exchange for their products, all the more since
these countries are experiencing difficulties in selling
fruits. This would also improve the political weight of the
GDR in these countries.

Khrushchev:  The GDR must study these markets
and adapt to them.

Mikoian:  From our side, we can help you with your
foreign trade apparat, and Yugoslavia can also give you
this help.

I would like to make another proposal, if there aren’t
objections from your side, namely: to prepare in the next
one-two months a plan of foreign trade exchange for seven
years between our countries.

Ulbricht:  That is a very good proposal. It would be
desirable to sign an agreement on it before the meeting of
the Volkskammer, that is, in August. Maybe Leuschner
and Patolichev could agree on the basic conditions of this
treaty still before the departure of the delegation?

Khrushchev:  Good.
Ulbricht:   In the name of the delegation, I would like

to express great satisfaction with the results of the talks
which have shown complete agreement on all questions.
The business discussion during the negotiations showed
that cooperation between our countries deepens more and
more. We heartily thank you.

Khrushchev:  And we would like to thank you and
also express the hope that our meeting will serve the
deepening friendship not only between our governments,
but also with the entire German people. On the issue of
how relations are turning out between the USSR and the
GDR, not only are our countries interested, but all peace-
loving peoples are also.

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy of the Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow, Fond 0742, Opis 4,
Portfel’ 33, Papka 31, ll. 71-87 for June 9 and ll. 88-102
for June 18; obtained and translated from Russian by
Hope M. Harrison.]
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the Kennan Institute for Advanced Russian Studies
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Assistant Professor, Department of Government and Law,
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fellowship at the Norwegian Nobel Institute in Oslo.
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The End of the Berlin Crisis:
New Evidence From the Polish and East German Archives

Introduction, translation, and annotation by Douglas Selvage1

Why did Soviet leader Nikita Khrushchev not
keep his promise to sign a separate peace treaty
with the German Democratic Republic (GDR)

after the construction of the Berlin Wall in August 1961?
Most scholars agree that after the construction of the wall,
he was concerned in part that a transfer of Soviet control
functions in and around Berlin to the GDR might spark a
military conflict with the West.2   Hope Harrison’s work
points to a second factor: a desire on Khrushchev’s part to
free himself from the leverage that the East Germans had
achieved during the crisis by threatening to collapse.  He
saw the Berlin Wall, she writes, “not only as a way to save
the GDR by stemming the refugee exodus, but also as a
way to wall in Ulbricht in East Berlin so that he could not
grab West Berlin by gradually usurping the Soviet border
control functions.”3

A third factor in Khrushchev’s decision not to sign a
separate peace treaty, I will argue, was his fear of a
Western economic embargo against the GDR and the
Soviet bloc in general.  All scholars agree that Khrushchev
approved the construction of the Berlin Wall first and
foremost to stem the flow of refugees and prevent the
immediate economic collapse of the GDR.  Recently-
declassified documents from the Polish and East German
archives suggest that his decision not to sign a separate
peace treaty with the GDR arose in part from a similar
fear.  A peace treaty with the GDR, he declared in private
meetings after the construction of the wall, would most
likely spark a Western economic embargo against the
socialist bloc.  Such an embargo, he worried, would
undermine the stability not only of the GDR, but also of
Poland, Czechoslovakia, Hungary and other Soviet-bloc
countries.  This group of states, dependent on trade with
the West, had already demonstrated an inability or
unwillingness to provide the GDR with the level of
economic support that East Berlin had been demanding.
In the wake of a Western embargo, they would have had
difficulty providing for their own needs, let alone the
GDR’s.  Even Soviet officials complained about the undue
burden placed upon the Soviet economy by the GDR’s
endless demands.  In February 1962, Khruschev
effectively ordered Ulbricht to end the GDR’s campaign
for a separate peace treaty and to focus instead on the
GDR’s economic difficulties, especially in agriculture.
Ulbricht became the target of growing criticism in
Moscow for his seeming inability to improve the GDR’s
economic situation.

Khrushchev’s “Economic Romanticism”
Khrushchev’s economic fears in 1961-62 stood in

stark contrast to his optimism of 1958-60 regarding the
ability of the GDR and the Soviet bloc to withstand a
Western embargo.  On 10 November 1958, he had
predicted in talks with Poland’s communist leader,
W»adys»aw Gomu»ka, that the West might respond to his
Berlin gambit with an economic blockade.  This did not
matter, he then contended, because the Soviet bloc had
sufficient foodstuffs to supply both the GDR and West
Berlin.4  Even in November 1960, after a flood of refugees
had left the GDR for West Berlin, Khrushchev reassured
Ulbricht that if the West responded to a separate peace
treaty with an embargo against the GDR, the Soviet Union
and the other socialist states would give the GDR the
necessary support to survive.5   The Soviet leader
overestimated not only the economic capabilities of the
Soviet bloc, but also the willingness of the other socialist
states to provide additional economic assistance to the
GDR.

Khrushchev’s miscalculations originated in a certain
romanticism about the economic prospects of socialism—
a complement to his “nuclear-missile romanticism” in the
military field. According to Vladislav Zubok and
Constantine Pleshakov, “Khrushchev’s belief that the
Communist system would prevail over capitalism made
him reluctant to acknowledge the obvious: that
economically the GDR was lagging behind prosperous
West Germany and depended on the Soviet Union’s
subsidies.”6   The same Khrushchev who declared that the
Soviet Union would catch up and surpass the United States
in the economic field within ten years seemed to believe
Ulbricht’s claim in 1958 that with the economic support of
the socialist camp, the GDR could meet or even surpass
the FRG’s standard of living within several years.7   By the
time of his meeting with Ulbricht in November 1960, it
was clear that this would not be the case.  In fact, the
GDR’s economy, it turned out, was dependent upon West
Germany for steel and other essential goods.  On
September 30, Bonn had announced its plans to terminate
the inter-German trade agreement at the end of the year.
Bonn was retaliating against the GDR’s growing
restrictions on travel to and from West Berlin—restrictions
that had not been cleared by the Soviets.  Nevertheless,
Khrushchev reassured Ulbricht that the Soviet Union and
the other socialist states could and would provide the GDR
with  the necessary economic aid to survive an embargo–
“East German needs are our needs.” On that note, Ulbricht
agreed to a renewal of Moscow’s offer to conclude a
separate peace treaty with the GDR—this time, by the end
of 1961.8
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Poland, the Soviet Bloc and the Berlin Crisis
Khrushchev had clearly not consulted in advance with

the other socialist states about his offer of increased
economic assistance.  Even while Ulbricht and
Khrushchev discussed economic preparations for a peace
treaty in July 1961, Poland rejected an East German
request for additional aid.  It would not grant the GDR an
additional 150,000 tons of coal in 1961 unless it received
raw materials in return.  It also refused to lower the price
of coal or to forego an increase in transit costs between the
GDR and the Soviet Union.9   Not only Poland, but also
Czechoslovakia and Romania were apparently resisting the
GDR’s economic demands.10  The growing opposition to
the GDR’s beggar-thy-neighbor economic policies most
likely played a role in the somewhat cryptic report to
Ulbricht on July 15 that despite his ongoing talks with
Khrushchev, he should be prepared to discuss “political-
economic” and military issues at the Warsaw Pact meeting
in Moscow from 3-5 August 1961.11

Hope Harrison’s analysis suggests that Khrushchev,
under pressure from Ulbricht, agreed to the construction of
the Berlin Wall some time by 26 July 1961.12  New
evidence from the Polish archives confirms that Ulbricht
was pushing for a wall and Khrushchev was hesitating.
Also pushing for the construction of a wall was Poland’s
Communist leader, W»adys»aw Gomu»ka.  The Polish
leader later complained on at least two different occasions
about Khrushchev’s failure to act quickly.  The flood of
refugees through Berlin was creating a drain not only on
the East German economy, but also on the economies of its
allies, which felt compelled to assist the GDR (see
Document # 1).  In a speech before the Central Committee
of the Polish United Workers’ Party (PUWP) on 22
November 1961, Gomulka justified the Soviet bloc’s
Berlin policy and the construction of the Wall.  Gomulka
declared: “Looking at things realistically, what was
decisive for us in putting forth the matter of a peace treaty
and Berlin, what was the deciding factor?  Decisive was
the fact was that they [the West] have been continually
creating diversions in the German Democratic Republic for
years, that they were continually drawing people out of
Berlin and doing whatever they wanted to do.  By the way,
we were saying among ourselves here long before the
Moscow meeting [of the Warsaw Pact in August] ... why
not put an end to it?  Close off, wall off Berlin.  And later
we made such a decision in Moscow.”13  Gomulka’s call
for speed in establishing “border controls” in Berlin at the
August meeting of the Warsaw Pact in Moscow was thus
not part of an orchestrated campaign of support for the
GDR.14  Rather, it was an expression of concern that
Khrushchev might continue to hesitate on constructing a
wall.

The same economic concerns that made Gomulka into
an early supporter of the Berlin Wall also led him to
oppose the idea of increased assistance for the GDR at the
Moscow meeting.  He agreed that the other socialist states
needed to support the GDR’s campaign to free itself from

dependence on West Germany (Störfreimachung), but the
GDR, he warned, should achieve its goal  through closer
economic cooperation with its allies, rather than through
demands for increased assistance.  If the West decided to
institute an embargo, Gomulka argued, it would be an
embargo against the entire socialist bloc, not just the GDR.
(Indeed, representatives of the Western powers and the
FRG had agreed only one day before the Warsaw Pact
meeting to institute an economic embargo against the
entire Eastern Bloc if the Soviets or East Germans cut off
Western Berlin.15)  The other socialist states, he
concluded, could assist the GDR, but not at the expense of
their own economic development.  Antonín Novotný of
Czechoslovakia and Janos Kádar of Hungary supported
Gomulka’s arguments.  Thirty percent of Hungary’s trade,
Kádar pointed out, was with the West; and of that trade,
25% was with West Germany.  In general, the other
socialist states were willing to sign a separate peace treaty,
but were opposed to bankrupting themselves in order to
assist the GDR.16

Khrushchev was taken aback by the attitudes of
Gomulka and the other leaders.  He criticized the socialist
states for having so many economic contacts with the
West.  All socialist states, he declared, had a responsibility
to support the GDR.  If the GDR did not receive additional
assistance,  he warned, it would be overrun by West
Germany; then, the Bundeswehr would be sitting on the
borders of Poland and Czechoslovakia.  Unless the GDR’s
standard of living were stabilized, he said, Ulbricht would
fall from power.17

Despite Khrushchev’s admonitions, Poland,
Czechoslovakia and Romania continued to refuse the GDR
the level of assistance that it was demanding.  On
September 12, the SED Politburo complained—somewhat
hypocritically—that the GDR could “no longer accept the
one-sided character of its economic relations” with
Poland.18

Khrushchev’s Flip-Flop on a Separate Peace Treaty
After the construction of the Berlin Wall,

Khrushchev—despite his earlier criticisms—increasingly
adopted the arguments of Gomu»ka and the other socialist
leaders.  At the 22nd Congress of the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union (CPSU) in Moscow in October 1961, he
retracted the December 31 deadline for concluding a
separate peace treaty, contingent upon progress in
negotiations with the West on the German question.
Although Ulbricht was visibly disappointed—his applause
at the party congress died down after Khrushchev’s
announcement19—he had apparently been informed of
Khrushchev’s decision a month before.  On September 23,
Ulbricht had written a letter to Gomu»ka inviting him to
attend the GDR’s 12th anniversary celebrations at the
beginning of October.  “The participation of representative
party and state delegations from the socialist states,” the
East German leader wrote, “will underline their
determination to conclude a German peace treaty
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sometime yet in this century [my emphasis].”20

In contrast to Ulbricht, Gomu»ka voiced his full
support at the CPSU party congress for Khrushchev’s
decision to withdraw the December 31 deadline.21  This
most likely reflected his own concerns about the effects of
an economic embargo on Poland.  During his stay in
Moscow, Gomulka met with Khrushchev and Soviet
Foreign Minister Andrei Gromyko to discuss
developments since August 13 (see Document #2 below).
Gromyko summarized Moscow’s talks with the West since
mid-August, and Khrushchev drew his own conclusions.
The United States, Gromyko reported, had voiced a
willingness “to recognize the borders of Germany de facto
and de jure (the border on the Oder-Neisse)” and “the
border between the GDR and West Germany de facto.”
Rusk, Khrushchev added, had suggested that the U.S.
might also support a non-aggression treaty between the
Warsaw Pact and NATO—a staple of Khrushchev’s
diplomacy—and, more importantly, the non-dissemination
of nuclear weapons to both German states.  Khrushchev
justified his decision to postpone a peace treaty by
pointing, on the one hand,  to the potential concessions
that could be won by continuing talks with the West and,
on the other hand, to the potential damage that an
economic embargo might cause to Poland, the GDR, and
the other socialist states.  He told Gomulka:  “The situation
is favorable to us... The USA requested that we not force
the issue of a peace treaty with Germany, that we wait 4-6
weeks so that it can work out its own position... There will
not be a war, but signing a peace treaty with the GDR
might exacerbate the situation... We must continue our
game... What will we gain and what will we lose by
concluding a separate peace treaty with the GDR [?] We
will lose: The Americans, the English, the French might
declare an economic blockade against the USSR and the
socialist countries.  Regarding the USSR, these are empty
platitudes, but the other countries—the GDR, Poland,
Hungary and to a lesser extent, Romania—might suffer if
they do that.  We should wait for 4-6 weeks, like they [the
Americans] asked, to conclude a treaty... We should not
pass any resolutions.  The game continues, we must keep
applying pressure.  We should coordinate our position
with Comrade Ulbricht.  We should carry on salami tactics
with regard to the rights of the Western countries... We
have to pick our way through, divide them, exploit all the
possibilities.”

Based on the U.S. documents declassified to date,
Khrushchev and Gromyko—at best—exaggerated Rusk’s
expressed willingness to make concessions.  To the
consternation of the West Germans, Rusk had suggested to
Gromyko that the U.S. would be willing to negotiate about
issues relating to “European security” as soon as the
Western powers’ right to access to West Berlin were
insured and reaffirmed by the Soviet Union (i.e., the U.S.
was unwilling to enter into negotiations with the GDR).
The U.S. Secretary of State had mentioned specifically a
reduction of armaments in Central Europe (but no

“disengagement”), the establishment of safeguards against
surprise attacks, and an exchange of “assurances” between
NATO and the Warsaw Pact “that they could live
peacefully.”  He has also declared that it was in the interest
of both the U.S. and the Soviet Union to prevent the
“spread of national nuclear weapons.”  Rusk did not,
however, ask the Soviets for “4-6 weeks” to formulate a
position, as Khrushchev implied to Gomu»ka, nor did he
suggest that the U.S. was prepared to recognize
Germany’s borders—let alone the inner-German
demarcation line—de facto or de jure.  It was Gromyko,
not Rusk, who kept bringing up in their talks Western
recognition of the existing borders and of the
“sovereignty” of the GDR.22

Although Khrushchev and Gromyko embellished
Rusk’s comments, they were not lying to Gomu»ka to the
extent that there were serious differences among the
Western powers and the FRG regarding European Security
and a Berlin settlement.  Privately, the U.S. State
Department was contemplating broader negotiations with
the USSR over Berlin—a fact reflected in Rusk’s guarded
comments to Gromyko.  Specifically, the State
Department was considering a more general settlement in
Central Europe: a four-power declaration (U.S., USSR,
Great Britain, and France) calling for the establishment of
mixed commissions between the two German states to
discuss personal, economic, and cultural exchange; a four
power commitment to recognize the existing borders of
Germany in any peace settlement (i.e. de facto recognition
of the Oder-Neisse Line); a non-aggression pact between
the Warsaw Pact and NATO; a four power declaration on
non-proliferation of nuclear weapons to third states; and a
reaffirmation by Bonn of its 1954 commitment not to
produce nuclear, chemical, of biological weapons.23

When Adenauer visited Washington in November 1961,
Kennedy probed him with regard to all three matters:
inter-German commissions; recognition of the existing
frontiers, especially the Oder-Neisse Line; and a renewed
West German commitment forswearing weapons of mass
destruction.  Adenauer was opposed to concessions in all
three areas.  A renewed declaration on weapons of mass
destruction would “discriminate” against the FRG; the
Oder-Neisse Line remained at the very least a bargaining
chip in any future peace settlement; and inter-German
commissions would have to be limited to ad hoc
discussion of technical matters, lest they lead to de facto
recognition of the GDR.24  The divisions within NATO
between the U.S. and Great Britain, on the one hand,
which were willing to discuss matters beyond a Berlin
settlement with the Soviet Union, and France and the
FRG, on the other hand, which opposed any linkage
between Berlin and other issues, seemed to provide an
ideal opportunity for Moscow to play the Western allies
against each other.25  This explains in part Khrushchev’s
optimism—and embellishments—during his talks with
Gomu»ka.

Although Khrushchev justified his decision to
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Gomu»ka only in terms of the West’s alleged willingness
to make concessions and a possible economic embargo
against the socialist bloc, one should not discount the role
of other factors in his decision.  Moscow’s worsening
relations with China or a fear of Ulbricht’s growing
influence might still have played the key role; Khrushchev
would not have necessarily informed Gomu»ka about such
ulterior motives.26  The concerns that he expressed about
an embargo, which openly contradicted his earlier
statements on the subject, were clearly meant to appeal to
the Polish leader’s own interests and gain his support.
Nevertheless, Khrushchev would use a possible embargo
as an excuse for avoiding a peace treaty once again, during
Ulbricht’s visit to Moscow at the end of February 1962.

Ulbricht’s Visit to Moscow, February 1962
By the time of Ulbricht’s visit to Moscow in February

1962, the talks between Gromyko and the U.S.
Ambassador to the USSR, Llewellyn S. Thompson, had
reached an impasse.  The West had quickly retreated on
the issue of recognizing Germany’s borders—specially the
inter-German border—and was focusing first and foremost
on guaranteeing access to West Berlin (see documents #3-
4 below).  Nevertheless, Khrushchev had clearly decided
by this point to abandon a separate peace treaty with the
GDR, while Ulbricht still wanted to force the issue.

Ulbricht brought up the issue of a separate peace
treaty during his first session with Khrushchev on
February 26.  The failure to conclude such an agreement,
he told Khrushchev, had undermined the authority of the
SED and the Soviet Union inside the GDR.  “In wide
circles of the population,” he said, “the opinion has arisen
that the Soviet Union and the GDR have overreached
themselves in the struggle for a peace treaty.”  Ulbricht
pleaded with Khrushchev to conclude a separate peace
treaty by the end of the summer.  It would assist the SED
in the upcoming election campaign to the East German
parliament, the Volkskammer, and help restore the party’s
tarnished image.  The conclusion of a peace treaty, he
suggested, need not exacerbate relations with the West; the
GDR was willing to sign a peace treaty that left open
matters relating to transit to West Berlin.  If the West
proved recalcitrant, the Soviet bloc could still use access to
West Berlin as a lever to compel the Western powers’
acceptance of the separate agreement.

Khrushchev rejected Ulbricht’s plea.  Although the
Thompson-Gromyko talks were a “step back” from the
West’s earlier statements, the Warsaw Pact could not
afford to exacerbate the situation by signing a separate
peace treaty with the GDR—at least for the time being.
Khrushchev cited two major reasons.  First, there was a
possibility of war with the West if the Soviet Union turned
over control of the access routes to West Berlin to the
GDR.  Second, there was the threat of an embargo against
the socialist bloc.  He explained:

One must see things the way they are.  We are

disturbing the USA’s air traffic [to and from Berlin].
It has to defend itself.  The imperialist forces will
always be against us.  One must see that West Berlin
is not in Adenauer’s hands.  On August 13, we
achieved the maximum of what was possible [my
emphasis].  I have the same impression as before that
the conclusion of a peace treaty with the GDR need
not lead to war.  But one must consider the situation
realistically.  You want to give your signature, and we
are supposed to give economically, because one must
see the possibility that after the conclusion of a peace
treaty, there will be an economic boycott.  Adenauer
will carry out an economic boycott, and we will have
to give [the GDR] everything that is lacking....

The signing of a peace treaty would lead to a
normalization of the situation in West Berlin.  The
main question, however, is not the peace treaty, but a
consolidation of the economic situation [in the GDR].
That is what we have to concentrate on.  I say once
again with regard to a peace treaty, that I believe there
would be no war, but who can guarantee that?  What
is pushing us to a peace treaty?  Nothing.  Until
August 13, we were racking our brains over how to
move forward.  Now the borders are closed.  One
must always proceed from the idea that the conclusion
of a peace treaty must serve us, that we will conclude
it when we need it....  We support the GDR’s
measures, but we do not agree that it is absolutely
necessary to use the peace treaty as a slogan for the
elections to the Volkskammer.”

Khrushchev even expressed understanding for
Kennedy’s position.  He openly voiced his concern—
already posited by Hope Harrison—about what Ulbricht
might do if the Soviet Union granted him control over the
access routes to West Berlin.27  “The Thompson-Gromyko
talks are a step backwards in comparison to the earlier
talks.  The USA wants to raise its price.  We have said
openly that these are no foundations for negotiations.
Previously, [U.S. President John F.] Kennedy presented
his viewpoint on the borders of Poland and the CSSR
[Czechoslovak Socialist Republic].  Of course he cannot
ratify the German border between the GDR and West
Germany.  One cannot expect that of him.  He is trying to
reach an agreement—for example, on an international
[border] control.  In one interview, he posed the question
himself of what one can do and to whom once can turn if,
for example, Ulbricht infringes upon the [existing] order
regarding access routes to Berlin.  To whom can one turn
in such a situation?”  In case Ulbricht was hoping for
assistance from the Chinese, Khrushchev dispelled his
illusions.  “The Albanians and the Chinese,” he said, “are
criticizing us with regard to the peace treaty and West
Berlin.  What are they doing themselves?  (Portuguese
colonies in India, Hong Kong, etc.).”

In effect, Khrushchev ordered Ulbricht to give up his
campaign for a separate peace treaty and to focus instead
on strengthening the GDR’s economy, seriously weakened
by the crisis over Berlin.  The Soviet leader remained
committed to granting the GDR more assistance than his
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planning chief, Alexei Kosygin, thought was wise.  (“In
response to an objection by Comrade Kosygin,” the report
on the February 26 meeting reads, “Comrade Khrushchev
replied that we cannot act like petty traders.”)
Nevertheless, in contrast to the meeting with Ulbricht in
November 1960,28 he now gave Kosygin free rein to
criticize the GDR’s economic policies.  Khrushchev
himself chided Ulbricht for importing potatoes from
Poland — a particularly pointed comment, given
Ulbricht’s frequent criticisms of Poland’s failure to
collectivize agriculture29 — and Kosygin noted that the
GDR, a former exporter of sugar, was now importing it.
The East Germans, Khrushchev and Kosygin argued, were
devoting great resources to building modern city centers
when they needed to invest more in agriculture.  In a final
blow, the Soviets ordered Ulbricht to “activate trade with
Bonn to the maximum extent” in order to help overcome
the GDR’s economic difficulties.  The subtext was clear:
neither the GDR nor its allies could economically afford a
separate peace treaty.  Although the Soviet bloc,
Khrushchev told Ulbricht on February 27, would
“aggressively pursue” a campaign for a separate peace
treaty, “we [the Soviet Union] will decide at what point to
conclude it.”    The Soviet Union, of course, never found
the right moment to conclude such an agreement.

Conclusions
Khrushchev’s decision to provoke the Berlin Crisis in

November 1958 was the product of economic, as well as
military-political, miscalculation.  The Soviet leader
overestimated not only the potential of the changing
strategic balance to squeeze concessions out of the West,
but also the economic ability of the GDR and the entire
Soviet bloc to withstand the economic pressures — both
potential and real — arising from a prolonged conflict
with the West over Berlin and the German question.  By
1961, East Germany’s socialist-bloc allies were no longer
willing to sacrifice their own economic development for
the sake of the GDR.  Even if their fears of a Western
economic embargo were not the deciding factor in
Khrushchev’s decision to renege on a separate peace treaty
with the GDR, they did provide him with a useful excuse
to justify his decision.  The irritation of the GDR’s allies
— including the Soviet Union — with Ulbricht’s never-
ending economic demands was quite apparent in 1961-62.

The economic weaknesses revealed during the Berlin
Crisis would help spark a flurry of reform proposals in
Eastern Europe during the early 1960’s: Khrushchev’s
plans to reform the Comecon and institute a “socialist
division of labor”; Gomulka’s project for closer economic
cooperation within the “northern triangle” of Poland, the
GDR and Czechoslovakia; and Ulbricht’s “New Economic
System” for the GDR.  Of the three initiatives, only the
New Economic System would make it to the
implementation stage.30  Conflicts would continue
between the GDR and its allies over economic questions.
Khrushchev grew increasingly critical of the GDR’s

failings in agriculture — in particular, Ulbricht’s rejection
of his pet project of introducing corn to East European
agriculture.31  Khrushchev’s son-in-law, Alexei Adzhubei,
editor-in-chief of Izvestiya, vocally criticized Ulbricht at a
gathering of Soviet-bloc journalists in May 1962.  In his
interview with the East German leader, Adzhubei
declared, Ulbricht had not expressed “a single fresh
thought.”  He was still blaming all the GDR’s economic
difficulties on “militarism in the FRG.”  “We got the
impression,” Adzhubei continued, “that Ulbricht is unable
to deal with the fundamental question: how to achieve
results in agriculture — they should work on it.  Phrases
cannot replace potatoes, which the GDR does not have.”32

Adzhubei, of course, would make even harsher remarks
about Ulbricht during his “mission” to Bonn in July-
August 1964.33  The tensions between Ulbricht and
Khrushchev in 1964, the recently-declassified documents
make clear, had their origins in the differences of 1961-62
over the East German economy and a separate peace
treaty.

Document No. 1 (Excerpt)
Transcript of a meeting between the delegations of the

PZPR and the SED in Moscow, 2 December 1969

... [Polish Premier Józef] Cyrankiewicz: Earlier you
spoke about closing the border [to West Berlin]; I would
like to remind you of how many times the Poles [i.e., the
Polish communists]  proposed that it be closed.

Gomu»ka: And how much earlier!
Ulbricht: We know about this and have not forgotten.

We were always of the same opinion as you.  Even then,
when something was hurting us — I have in mind the
matter of the open border.

Gomu»ka: I would have shut it far earlier.  How many
times I told Khrushchev about it!

Ulbricht: We know about that, but Khrushchev
believed after all that he could conclude a treaty with the
FRG modeled after Rapallo....

[Source: AAN, KC PZPR, p. 110, t. 16.]

Document No. 2
Rough Notes from a Conversation (Gromyko,

Khrushchev, and Gomulka) on the International
Situation, n.d. [October 1961]

Comrade Gromyko:  In talks with [U.S. Secretary of
State Dean] Rusk, [U.K. Foreign Minister Lord Alec]
Home, [U.S. President John F.] Kennedy and [U.K. Prime
Minister Harold] Macmillan, it struck me above all else
how they conducted them in a friendly tone, which has not
always been the case.  We concluded that they are trying
to find ways to achieve an understanding on the question
of Germany and West Berlin.  During the exchange of
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views, every major issue was touched upon.  Nevertheless,
it was stressed in the conversations that this is only a
preliminary exchange of views before official talks.

From the very beginning, Rusk34, Macmillan and
Kennedy declared that we should discuss on the basis of
the actual situation what would be acceptable to the
Western countries.  It has to do with access to West Berlin.
Rusk emphasized that we should guarantee free access to
West Berlin.  We utilized Comrade Khrushchev’s
discussion with [Belgian Premier Paul-Henri] Spaak35 and
tried to justify ourselves by emphasizing that the GDR and
the USSR have declared that they will respect the general
order of the people of West Berlin.  Our position was very
understandable to them.

The question of access to West Berlin: Regarding this
question, there have not been any statements.  They are of
the opinion that some new legal changes will have to be
introduced or else the occupation regime will have to be
maintained.  Regarding Germany’s borders: Rusk declared
with Kennedy’s approval that the government of the USA
is prepared to recognize the borders of Germany de facto
and de jure (the border on the Oder-Neisse).  With regard
to Czechoslovakia’s borders, they are thinking over some
form of commitment to recognize that country’s borders.
They are prepared to recognize the border between the
GDR and West Germany de facto.

Comrade Khrushchev:  Everything that we say here
must remain top secret because our position corresponds
to their position.

The West Germans are afraid that the USA will say
more than it should about Germany’s borders.

In the third discussion, Rusk also touched upon the
following questions: security in Europe —(1) the
conclusion of a non-aggression pact between NATO and
the Warsaw Pact.  Home also spoke about this.  (2) Rusk
declared that the USA is in favor [of the idea] that the
GDR and West Germany should not produce nuclear
weapons and that other countries should not supply these
countries with such weapons.  (3) The USA declared itself
in favor of reducing the size of armies on both sides of the
front in the heart of Europe.

The first two matters should be resolved
simultaneously.  With regard to the other matter, the
prevention of sudden aggression — that matter will have

to be resolved at a later date.
Conclusion: They consider the question of security in

Europe a concession to our advantage.
With regard to the sovereignty of the GDR, there were

no statements.  They did ask us, however, how we
understand [the issue of] respecting the GDR’s
sovereignty.

The situation is favorable for us.
The USA proposed that we continue the exchange of

views.  We voiced our approval.
The exchange of views will be continued with the

USA’s ambassador in Moscow.
The basis for further discussions is not bad.
Comrade Khrushchev:   The USA requested that we

not force the issue of a peace treaty with Germany, that we
wait 4-6 weeks so that it can work out its own position.
Comrade Khrushchev spoke further about the incidents on
the border to West Berlin, about how access was
suspended to West Berlin, which has become an island.

He spoke further about the incident with the tanks
[i.e., the tank standoff at Checkpoint Charlie on October
27] and how the police are checking every route leading to
Berlin.

In a conversation with Comrade Khrushchev,
Kennedy always stressed that we are a great country and
that we should respect each other.

There will not be a war, but signing a peace treaty
with the GDR might exacerbate the situation.

Berlin is a closed city, without prospects /statement of
American journalists/.

Although there will be no war, we should not
exacerbate the situation.  We must continue our game.

We are not afraid, but we do not want war.  We can
agree with Kennedy: What’s Berlin to you? —  before you
there are enormous possibilities, history is working to your
advantage.

What will we gain and what will we lose by
concluding a peace treaty with the GDR[?]

We will lose: The Americans, the English, the French
might declare an economic blockade against the USSR
and the socialist countries.  Regarding the USSR, these are
empty platitudes, but the other countries — the GDR,
Poland, Hungary and to a lesser extent, Romania — might
suffer if they do that.  We should wait for 4-6 weeks, like
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they asked, to conclude a treaty.
We are of the opinion that we should continue with

our [current] line, should keep applying pressure and
exploit the weaknesses of the enemy.  We should strive to
remove the official representatives from West Berlin and
liquidate Adenauer’s pretensions to West Berlin....

The economic situation of the USSR is outstanding,
We should not force the conclusion of a peace treaty with
Germany, but continue to move forward....

We should not pass any resolutions.  The game
continues, we should keep applying pressure.  We should
coordinate our position with Comrade Ulbricht.  We
should carry on salami tactics with regard to the rights of
the Western countries....

We have to pick our way through, divide them,
exploit all the possibilities.

Our situation is good, but if we do not apply pressure,
then we will have to give up on signing a peace treaty with
the GDR.

We cannot permit the reunification of Germany.
Why does [Konrad] Adenauer want to remain [West

German] Chancellor?  Because, he says, if we want to
make contacts in the future with the Soviet Union, I can do
it best.

Nobody supports West Germany in its desire for
reunification.

I think that Adenauer is better than [West Berlin
Mayor Willy] Brandt.

West Germany’s ambassador [Hans Kroll] thinks that
Adenauer should meet with Comrade Khrushchev.

We should set a meeting place....

[Source: AAN, KC PZPR, p. 115, t. 39, pp. 318-23.]

Document No. 3
Note on the Discussion between Khrushchev and
Ulbricht in Moscow, 26 February 1962 (Excerpts)

... Comrade Ulbricht pointed out that everything that
the German side proposed to discuss had been fixed in
writing.

Comrade Khrushchev stated that the declaration on
the future of Germany can be designated as good; the
responsible divisions in the foreign ministry and central
committee have studied this statement and have several
minor remarks, which one can accept or not.  He did not
yet have time to read the other documents.  It would be
useful, however, to talk over the economic problems in
Gosplan, work out a position, and then discuss it.  The
German side agreed.

Comrade Ulbricht then pointed out that the documents
were prepared on the basis of the last plenum of the CC
[Central Committee of the] SED.

Since then, Adenauer has brought up the question of a
change in the GDR’s government.  That means that Bonn

is realizing a decision reached a year ago.  Adenauer is
turning directly to the population of the GDR and calling
for diversion and sabotage (radio).  We have begun to do
this as well, we are turning directly to the West German
population with corresponding demands.  It is, so to say, a
period of unpeaceful coexistence.  A campaign is being
officially organized by Bonn for reunification through so-
called free elections.  The implication is that it would be
possible to speak with the “Soviet zone” if it had a
different government.  In the last few days, it has been
suggested that with such a change, help could be given to
raise the standard of living [in the GDR], which is
allegedly 20% lower than in West Germany.

The document before you about the historical role of
the GDR, which was prepared by the appropriate
authorities in the GDR, reflects the current situation.  It
shows with which forces an opening for the German
nation can be found.  It is to be approved at the congress
of the National Front.  One cannot fail to recognize that a
certain difficulty has arisen due to the postponement of a
peace treaty.  In wide circles of the population the opinion
has arisen that the Soviet Union and the GDR have
overreached themselves in the struggle for a peace treaty.
This is connected to a large campaign that is currently
being organized in and through West Berlin.  It also has to
do with the mobilization of the revanchist organizations.
The task stands before us to strengthen the GDR; the way
has been worked out and certain circles of the workers are
being won over to it.  Currently, there is broad discussion
of how even better results can be achieved in the
mobilization of production [Produktionsaufgebot].  Now,
the question arises of how to move forward with regard to
a peace treaty and West Berlin.

In the Thompson-Gromyko talks, the respective
standpoints are being tested.  One has to see that the USA
has raised its demands — e.g., with regard to controls on
the autobahn.  Kennedy is doing what Adenauer has
proposed, but with more skillful methods.

It is a matter of clarifying prospects for the future.
The document before you deals with the historical role of
the GDR.  It is of the greatest importance for the
strengthening and future development of the GDR.  It
must be considered whether the GDR will make its own
proposals regarding the problems of disarmament and the
Geneva Conference.  Perhaps with regard to the stance of
the two German states towards disarmament.  A broad
campaign could be unfolded over what it means [to
recognize] the results of the Second World War and
gradually to eliminate its remnants.  It must be examined,
whether a conference of the consultative committee of the
Warsaw Pact states or the foreign ministers with regard to
changing the anomalous status of West Berlin would be
useful, or whether a declaration should be published by
both press bureaus.

Up to now, we have been silent on a number of
questions because we do not want to come under suspicion
of seeking to disturb the talks that are being held at the
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highest level.  We are in favor of a continuation of the
talks between Thompson and Gromyko, but it must be
weighed whether or not we should keep in sight the
conclusion of a peace treaty near the end of summer.  A
commission would be necessary for this.  What will come
of it, if we go too fast?  Crudely put, a bad peace treaty.
That is, the questions of the borders and the capital would
be regulated, and a number of the war’s remnants would
be eliminated. [The question of] air traffic would remain
open, while the general traffic would remain as it has
been.  All of this would mean a strengthening of the
German Democratic Republic.  We are of the opinion that
the USA would not have any formal reason to exacerbate
the situation.  One must consider the possibility of
continuing to use the tactic used up to now of exploiting
West Berlin as a means of pressure.

Hence, there is the proposal to conclude a peace
treaty, including a protocol that expresses the matters in
which the Soviet Union and the Western Powers stand in
unanimity and that also states what still remains open.

In terms of strengthening the GDR, such a step would
be greeted warmly; the conclusion of a peace treaty would
be expedient for the elections to the Volkskammer.  From
Berlin, of course, one cannot perceive the entire situation,
but simple propaganda for a peace treaty will not meet
with the acceptance of the population.

In recent weeks, the enemy has greatly strengthened
its attack.  Many of the measures taken by the Soviet
Union have been exploited against the GDR because they
were carried out without any political justification — e.g.,
the trip of the Soviet garrison commander to West Berlin,
the exercises by Soviet planes in the air corridors.

Comrade Khrushchev: One must see things the way
they are.  We are disturbing the USA’s air traffic.36   It has
to defend itself.  The imperialist forces will always be
against us.  One must see that West Berlin is not in
Adenauer’s hands.  On August 13, we achieved the
maximum of what was possible.  I have the same
impression as before that the conclusion of a peace treaty
with the GDR need not lead to war.  But one must
consider the situation realistically.  You want to give your
signature and we are supposed to give economic [support],
because one must see the possibility that after the
conclusion of a peace treaty, there will be an economic
boycott.  Adenauer will carry out an economic boycott,
and we will have to give [the GDR] everything that is
lacking.  I am proceeding on the basis of the interests of
my country and from the interests of the entire socialist
camp.  One should not assume that the West has it easy.
Why does it want guarantees for access?  Because the
West does not trust the people of West Berlin.  They
believe that West Berlin cannot hold out for more than ten
years.

The signing of a peace treaty would lead to the
normalization of the situation in West Berlin.  The main
question, however, is not the peace treaty, but a
consolidation of the economic situation.  That is what we

have to concentrate on.  I say once again with regard to a
peace treaty, that I believe  there would be no war, but
who can guarantee that?  What is pushing us to a peace
treaty?  Nothing.  Until August 13, we were racking our
brains over how to move forward.  Now, the borders are
closed.  One must always proceed from the idea that the
conclusion of a peace treaty must serve us, that we will
conclude it when we need it.  The measures worked out by
Comrade Ulbricht are correct.  Of course the German
people are affected by Western propaganda.  It affects us
less.  We support the GDR’s measures, but we do not
agree that it is absolutely necessary to use the peace treaty
as a slogan for the elections to the Volkskammer.

Comrade Ulbricht: The economic questions are
naturally the most important.  For us, they do not
necessarily coincide with our political tasks.  In previous
years, we campaigned for the conclusion of a peace treaty,
but then came the withdrawal of the deadline, and the
impressions from that are still present in the population.  It
is necessary to conduct the propaganda about a peace
treaty more carefully.  Our population sometimes thinks
differently.  It links the peace treaty to national illusions.

The document before you is, so to speak, the
expression of a new phase in our politics.  We have
thoroughly discussed it with the other parties, and it is
correct that with regard to a peace treaty, one must be
more careful.

Comrade Khrushchev returned to the peace treaty.
What do we see?  The Thompson-Gromyko talks are a
step backwards in comparison to the earlier talks.  The
USA wants to raise its price.  We have said openly that
these are no foundation for negotiations.  Previously,
Kennedy presented his standpoint on the borders of Poland
and the CSSR.  Of course he cannot ratify the German
border between the GDR and West Germany.  One cannot
expect that of him.  He is trying to reach an agreement —
for example, on an international [border] control.  In one
interview, he posed the question himself of what one can
do and to whom one can turn if, for example, Ulbricht
infringes upon the [existing] order regarding access routes
to Berlin.  To whom can one turn in such a situation?37

One has to see that on August 13, we disturbed the
stability of West Berlin.  The GDR must be made
invulnerable in economic terms.  One must also discuss
this with the Poles and the Czechoslovaks.  The Albanians
and the Chinese criticize us with regard to the peace treaty
and West Berlin.  What are they doing themselves?
(Portuguese colonies in India, Hong Kong, etc.)38  I think
that our policy is correct, nothing disturbs us, and as long
as imperialism exists, we will have to operate in this
fashion.

Comrade Ulbricht interjected that the EEC [European
Economic Community] is also becoming effective.

Comrade Khrushchev referred to the relations
between Japan and the Soviet Union and started to speak
in this regard about agricultural matters.

Comrade Ulbricht referred to the GDR’s economic
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situation.  The preparations for the 1962 plan foresee a 7%
increase in investments, and the growth in production will
amount to around 6%.  Overall, the standard of living
remains the same as it was.  Wage increases of around 1%
will follow.

We want to try to carry out a mobilization of
production for the conclusion of a peace treaty by this fall.
One should not forget, however, that often the material
incentive is missing.  We are currently working with large
savings measures, including a reduction in higher wages;
the incomes must be cut.  That means domestically a
certain political risk.

We are having difficulties with investments because
the investments in part are in areas with little economic
return — e.g., metals [Buntmetalle] and coal.  For us, the
costs of production in these areas cost many times the
world-market price.  The plan for 1961 was not achieved.
The workforce is lacking.  We have a long-term agreement
with the Soviet Union, but it cannot be completely
fulfilled.  It is necessary to develop further the
specialization and the deliveries of raw materials.  In the
trade treaty with the Soviet Union, there are a number of
quotas that cannot be met.

In terms of carrying out the plan, there is a greater
orientation towards those branches of production that are
profitable.  A higher worker productivity absolutely has to
be achieved by using the best machines, which are now
going in part for export.  A reorientation of industry in this
way is necessary.  Then the GDR will be in a situation to
repay its credits.

In response to an objection by Comrade Kosygin,
Comrade Khrushchev replied that we cannot act like petty
traders.  It has to do with creating a profitable economy in
the GDR.

Comrade Kosygin is in agreement with the plans as
they were presented.  He pointed out that in the GDR there
is, in part, higher consumption than in West Germany.  A
great deal is paid out in the form of social support, but the
German only sees what passes through his fingers.  He
believes that the reduction in investment in agriculture is
incorrect.  Unprofitable branches of industry must be cut.
The plan for 1962 is not yet ready; it will be necessary to
work out the material in 1-2 days in order to reach an
acceptable decision.

Comrade Ulbricht referred to the necessity of
rebuilding several city centers.  It is a political, not an
economic, question.

In the construction of housing, a reduction in costs
absolutely must be achieved, but he is of the opinion that
for the time being, construction should not be touched.

Comrade Khrushchev referred to the difficulties in
agriculture and asked whether it is true that the GDR
bought potatoes from Poland.

Comrade Kosygin interjected that the GDR is
importing sugar and before, it was exporting it.

Comrade Khrushchev pointed out that the
transformation of agriculture is a protracted process —

e.g., the development of combines.
A long conversation evolved over the development of

agricultural machinery.
At the end of the discussions, it was decided to carry

out the next discussion on the afternoon of the 27th around
1600 hours.  In the meantime, talks were to be held
between [Chairman of the State Planning Commission]
Comrade [Bruno] Leuschner and Comrade Kosygin.

[Source: Dölling, Ambassador, “Note of the Discussion on
26.2.1962,” 7 March 1962.  Politisches Archiv des
Auswärtigen Amtes (PA/AA), Aubenstelle Berlin,
Ministerium für Auswärtige Angelegenheiten (MfAA),39

Ministerbüro (Winzer), G-A476.]

Document No. 4
Note on the Discussion between Khrushchev and

Ulbricht in Moscow on 27 February 1962 (Excerpts)

Comrade Kosygin reported on the discussion that had
taken place between him and Comrade Leuschner; as the
first problem, he dealt with the prospective plans for 1963-
65.  He touched upon the following questions: control
numbers, 1963-1965; investment questions; balancing of
industrial branches; coordination and reorganization of
individual branches of industry.

He reported that the consultations had concluded in a
decision to appoint groups of experts, who will prepare the
appropriate materials and come to the negotiations without
binding directives.  These preparations should provide a
basis for the 7-Year-Plan.  Deadline for the work of the
groups of experts: one month.

Comrade Khrushchev stressed that it is necessary to
see the new bases for economic relations between  the two
states.  It has to do with the unification of the economies
of both states and the harmonizing of their plans.
Whatever is decided upon must be maintained by both
sides.  The economies of both countries must be treated as
a united whole, and all possibilities must be considered.
He proposed that relations with the GDR be governed in
the same way as, for example, the plan and settlement with
the Ukraine are binding.  He illustrated this strive-worthy
condition by referring to a discussion that [Klement]
Gottwald40 had once led.

Comrade Ulbricht pointed out that until 1954, there
had already been closer economic relations than is
currently the case.

Comrade Khrushchev countered that the cooperation
then was different, it was a mutual agreement.  He is of the
opinion, for example, that the question of investments in
copper and potash must be agreed upon in the mutual
plans, which [each side] must be obliged to keep.

Meeting the quantities agreed upon must be an
obligation.  Comrade Ulbricht voiced his agreement.  He
then made several supplementary remarks regarding
economic-technical cooperation and suggested that a
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direct cooperation of the [Party] secretaries working in this
area should take place.  Currently, things are not in order
because very many matters regarding the transfer of
patents and experience are being regulated by state
security.  He is of the opinion that the exchange and
transfer of such things should take place through the
“Committee for Coordination.”  He proposed that suitable
guarantees be made for such cooperation.

Comrade Kosygin then reported on his conceptions
for the plan in 1962, at which point he stressed that
deliveries to the GDR have been fully agreed upon, but
that the balance is still 215,000,000 rubles short.

He then drew attention to the following particulars:
Activation of trade with Bonn to the maximum extent.
Scrutiny of military expenditures.
The establishment of technically-based norms, esp.

the alteration of norms.
The alignment of investments in crucial areas.
The standard of living in the GDR in comparison to

the Federal Republic.
From the latest numbers he reached the conclusion

that there are good possibilities for real propaganda in the
GDR.  He further stressed that great possibilities still exist
to balance the plan in 1962, though with a larger credit
from the Soviet Union.  He suggested that it is better to
discharge an investment with 6% than with 7%, but also to
fulfill and surpass the plan.  By all means, that is
politically better.  With regard to the standard of living, he
drew attention to the fact that it seems expedient to give
more in the form of direct wage increases and less through
the social funds, because the latter is barely taken into
account by the population.

Comrade Khrushchev interjected that the after the 20th

Plenum, the Soviet Union also went over to presenting the
plan in such a fashion that a larger surplus [Übererfüllung
] was guaranteed.  That is of political consequence.
Regarding the credit, he proposed that a suitable
agreement be made and then signed in Leipzig.

Comrade Ulbricht expressed his agreement to the
proposals and drew attention to the situation that had
developed in terms of the individual matters in the most
recent time period.

With regard to military expenditures, he referred in
particular to the fact that it had become necessary to equip
the army with new rail and radio equipment.

Comrade Khrushchev interjected that it cannot be that
such an increase could arise on these grounds.  One must
check.  It has to do with limiting the non-productive
expenditures.

Comrade Ulbricht referred to the need to achieve an
increase in production through additional material stimuli
and reported on the struggle being waged to create
technically-grounded work norms.

He pointed out that an acceleration of this struggle [to
create technically-based work norms] is impossible.

Comrade Kosygin pointed out that the GDR is among
those [states] with the highest norms in housing.  In

discarding ruins and constructing new city centers one
cannot proceed from the desirable shape of the city
centers; instead, money must be placed first of all at the
disposal of factories.  In the GDR there are
accommodations, city centers, etc., that are not planned for
the Soviet Union until 1970.  One must make reasonable
use of the funds available.  The main thing is to use these
means for production.

Comrade Khrushchev said that he is upset that little is
being invested in agriculture.  We cannot accept special
circumstances with regard to the large number of kulaks.
If a decision [has to be made], whether city centers are to
be built or investments made in agriculture, then the latter.
One must promote production with all means and not
simply pay more for the work units in the agriculture.  In
general, agriculture is the sore point of all the people’s
democracies.  He then referred to the reorganization of the
administration of agriculture in the Soviet Union that had
been discussed at the March plenum.

In response to Comrade Ulbricht’s letter, he said that
the campaign for a peace treaty is settled.  We will pursue
the campaign aggressively, for the signing of a peace
treaty.  We will exploit every possibility for negotiations,
but we will decide at what point to conclude it.

He is in agreement with a joint protest against the
Western states’ discrimination against the GDR.  It would
be incorrect, however, to strive, for example, for a general
boycott in the field of sports.  Stalin did that.  One must
make reasonable policy and not declare a boycott as a
principle.  That would only be to the advantage of the
reactionary forces....

Comrade Ulbricht then referred to the articles being
printed in the press about comrades who perished  in the
period of the Stalin-cult and stressed that this is of a
certain importance to the GDR.  Until now, nothing has
been done in this direction, and there is no intention to do
so.  It is nevertheless necessary to agree upon the tactics in
these cases.

There are cases in which the Soviet comrades do not
understand our tactics — e.g., a delegation of writers who
expressed the opinion that there is not enough freedom [in
the GDR].  That was expressed at a writers’ congress.  The
GDR is not publishing materials about Stalin’s victims,
and such books and publications will be refused by us —
e.g., a book about the events in 1953 and the case of
[Lavrentii] Beria.41

He voiced a request that in exchanges on the state
level a certain order be created, so that — for example —
writers cannot be used against the policies of the GDR.  To
this end, it is necessary that the party get involved.

Comrade Khrushchev agreed to speak with Comrade
[Mikhail] Suslov and Comrade [Leonid] Il’ichev42 about
it.

[Source: Dölling, Ambassador in Moscow, “Note of a
Discussion on 27 February 1962,” 5 March 1962.
Marked, “For personal use only.”  PA/AA, Aubenstelle
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